Emergency Department Transitions of Care: A Quality Measurement Framework

FINAL REPORT AUGUST 30, 2017



This report is funded by the Department of Health and Human Services under contract HHSM-500-2012-00009I, Task Order HHSM-500-T0025.

CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	2
INTRODUCTION	4
PROJECT OVERVIEW	6
SYNTHESIS OF FINDINGS AND DEFINITIONS	7
MEASUREMENT FRAMEWORK, MEASURES, CONCEPTS, AND GAPS	8
PRIORITY MEASURES AND MEASURE CONCEPTS	24
RECOMMENDATIONS: PRIORITIES FOR ED QUALITY OF TRANSITIONS OF CARE AND PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT	26
CONCLUSION	28
APPENDIX A: Methodology	31
APPENDIX B: Expert Panel Roster and NQF Staff	37
APPENDIX C: Measure Compendium	39
APPENDIX D: Transitions of Care—Innovative and Leading Practices and Programs	43
APPENDIX E: Measure Prioritization	45
APPENDIX F: Public Comments Received on Draft Report and Panel Responses	60

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Emergency department (ED) visits are often critical inflection points in a patient's health trajectory, making management and information transfers a vital component of quality and outcomes. Consequently, bidirectional information flows require attention as patients transfer from outpatient providers to EDs; EDs to outpatient providers; within EDs and hospitals; and between EDs and other settings such as nursing homes, home health, rehabilitation, and prehospital services. Improving the management of transitions of care into, out of, and within the ED has the potential to improve personcentered care, increase value, and reduce costs.

Return visits to the ED within three days of a discharge are estimated at 8.2 percent nationally. Of those patients who had a revisit, 32 percent revisited a different institution, making sharing of information between settings vital to quality patient care.¹ One in five Medicare beneficiaries discharged from the hospital is readmitted within 30 days, with half of the patients having not yet seen an outpatient doctor for follow-up, and most of these readmissions occur through the ED.² Unclear, incomplete, or missing information during ED transitions in care between providers and settings may lead to patient anxiety and uncertainty, avoidable resource use, or a worsening in the patient's condition and potential harm. In addition, variability in communication during transitions from one care setting to another may contribute to confusion among clinicians about the patient's severity of condition and near-term care needs, duplicative tests, inconsistent patient monitoring, medication errors, delays in diagnosis, and lack of follow through on referrals. These system failures may contribute to poor outcomes in patient safety, quality of care, and overall health outcomes.3

Currently there are few measures that address the content and quality of transitions of care for a medical condition into and out of the ED. To address this gap, the National Quality Forum (NQF) convened the multistakeholder Emergency Department Quality of Transitions of Care Expert Panel to develop a quality performance measurement framework including priority measures and measure concepts and a set of guiding recommendations to help promote improvement in the management of transitions of care. This report summarizes the findings and offers recommendations for measure development and implementation to address this important void.

The Panel identified a set of priority measures and concepts that improve transitions for both patients and providers; promote structures and processes to link clinical and non-clinical settings more effectively; and measure outcomes to help monitor the development and implementation of systems to optimize transitions. In parallel, the Panel deliberated over ways to promote positive near- and long-term changes, which were distilled into four high-impact area recommendations:

 Infrastructure and linkages: The development of new infrastructure and linkages is needed to support ED transitions that are patientcentered. For example, hospitals will need to make further investments in ED-based care managers, navigators, and social workers, and facilitate referrals to community health workers and healthcare coaches.

- Health information technology (Health IT): Enhancements to health IT are needed to support high-quality ED transitions in care. For example, interoperable health IT should be developed to help support shared decision making between providers and patients during ED transitions in care.
- Payment models: New payment models may facilitate quality improvement in ED transitions. For example, EDs and hospitals that move to global budgets rewarding hospitals for coordinated care may promote investment in ED transitions to reduce inefficient ED downstream use (e.g., unscheduled ED revisits).
- 4. **Research agenda:** Further research is needed to understand which patients are at highest risk for encountering problems with poor quality

or poor outcomes related to ED transitions, and which interventions work best to reduce transition-related problems and improve outcomes. For example, stakeholders in ED transitions in care (i.e., providers, policymakers, researchers, and health IT vendors) should identify, develop, evaluate, and promulgate promising models for ED and community engagement.

These recommendations reinforce the wellrecognized need to reduce care fragmentation and improve care coordination through enhancing ED transitions in care. Recommendations are not limited to any single health condition, organization type, or type of measure. They are intentionally broadly applicable to all entities that participate in transitions of care into and out of the ED.

INTRODUCTION

Care fragmentation across the healthcare system is increasingly becoming a major quality issue, particularly as patients transition between care settings.⁴ Transitions of care are defined as the movement of patients between healthcare locations, providers, or different levels of care as their conditions and care needs change. During this transition process, healthcare providers may miscommunicate, causing patients to experience conflicting care plans, duplicative services, and potential medical errors or delays in care.⁵ Fragmentation and its negative effects on the quality of patient care can be magnified in hospital-based ED care. Furthermore, ED care is commonly delivered at a critical juncture in a patient's health trajectory—an acute illness or injury-and the physicians and facility caring for the patient often have no prior relationship with the patient.6

EDs play a key role in healthcare delivery in the United States with more than 137 million visits in 2014, according to the Healthcare Cost and Utilization Project.⁷ Over the past decade, visits to hospital-based EDs have consistently outpaced population growth. Under the Emergency Medical Treatment and Labor Act (EMTALA), EDs must provide medical screening examinations for all patients who present for care regardless of their ability to pay.⁸ EDs care for a wide variety of patients from neonates to the elderly as well as patients with a wide variety of conditionsincluding high-risk conditions where gaps in transitions in care can lead to poor outcomes. In addition, because of EMTALA requirements, EDs are a central location for care for patients with low socioeconomic status.

Care transitions are challenged by the lack of interoperability in electronic health records (EHRs) and the lack of standardization in information that is transferred to and from EDs before the patient arrives, while the patient is in the ED, or after the patient departs the ED for further outpatient or inpatient care.9 These issues make transitions between providers regarding ED care prone to error and communication issues, thus putting patients at particularly high risk for adverse or poor health outcomes. Risks related to transitions are even higher when patient factors (e.g., older age and comorbid conditions) or condition-related factors (e.g., severity of illness or immediate treatment needs) increase the need for good communication between providers and with patients. There are, however, many potential ways to optimize ED transitions in care, such as improving provider education around how to execute effective transitions; assessing provider performance on transitions in care; ensuring that EHR vendors produce useful transition tools; and identifying specific data elements necessary for a high-quality ED transition. Prehospital emergency medical services (EMS) providers, advanced care nurses, as well as other providers in and out of the hospital can also play key roles in enhancing ED transitions. However, to date, few interventions or approaches that optimize the use of the wide variety of providers that contact ED patients have been broadly implemented. Finally, it is important to consider that different EDs have different resources when it comes to facilitating transitions in care. Larger EDs with more resources may have more support services (i.e., care managers and social workers) while smaller EDs may have fewer resources to focus on ED transitions in care. The wide heterogeneity in EDs must therefore be considered when developing ways to optimize ED transitions in care.

The purposes of this project were to identify existing measures and measure concepts for transitions in care into and out of the ED, to identify gaps to fill in measure development, and to create a framework for measuring the quality of ED transitions. The overall goal of this effort is to use measurement to drive quality improvement and accountability for optimizing ED transitions for patients as well as reward providers and health systems that are able to consistently conduct highquality transitions.

This project builds on prior work by NQF and others. For example, NQF has been working to improve performance measures for care coordination for the last 10 years, which has validated the importance of multiple parties working together as a unified system to achieve positive outcomes for the patient. In addition, NQF's Measure Applications Partnership (MAP) has identified an initial Care Coordination Family of Measures related to the National Quality Strategy (NQS) priorities and high-impact conditions.¹⁰ This Family of Measures addresses avoidable admissions and readmissions, system infrastructure support, care transitions, communication, care planning, and patient surveys related to care coordination.

Prior work in ED transitions outside of NQF includes the American College of Emergency Physicians' (ACEP) 2012 report, *Transitions of Care Task Force*.¹¹ The report issued recommendations to improve transitions of care to advance population health, patient experiences, and reduce costs to the system. One central recommendation, "to identify the components of a minimum data set for all transitions," was a desire shared by this project's Expert Panel.

PROJECT OVERVIEW

Under contract with the Department of Health and Human Services (HHS), NQF was tasked with developing a measurement framework and identifying measure concepts that focus on the quality of transitions of care into and out of the ED. There is great need for measures that address the quality of transitions in care for patients with a wide range of medical conditions as well as ongoing social service needs. This framework is intended to serve as a foundation to address the current measure gaps, identify promising measure concepts, and guide future measurement development. As a nonprofit, membership organization and a consensus-based entity, NQF brings together multistakeholder groups to reach consensus on critical issues, including improving health and healthcare through quality measurement. A list of the members of the ED Quality of Transitions of Care Expert Panel can be found in Appendix B.

This project aims to identify ways to measure and improve patient transitions of care, and ultimately make the process more patient-centered, while enhancing value and reducing cost. There are other types of important transitions of care that occur within an ED, such as ED physician to ED physician or ED physician to hospital handoffs for patients who are admitted. There are also transitions that occur when emergency medical services (EMS), the police, or the fire department respond to individuals who may or may not be transported to the ED. EMS in particular has a critical role in ED transitions because they often care for and transport the highest risk patients, specifically those who are most critically ill and have lower socioeconomic status, who lack other means of transport to the hospital. This project, however, focuses on the transitions of care into and out of the ED, with a particular emphasis on the role of follow-up care for the patient. After an ED visit, follow-up is a high-risk time where patients may experience important gaps in care that may result in missed diagnoses, and potentially avoidable healthcare use, such as return ED visits.^{12,13,14} This report was developed through a process with steps including:

- Synthesizing evidence through an environmental scan for existing measures and measure concepts;
- Conducting key informant interviews to provide additional expert insight on gaps in measures as well as ways that technology related to ED transitions is changing;
- 3. Developing a measurement framework to identify measure gaps and prioritize a list of existing measures and measure concepts for immediate use or further development;
- 4. Convening a Panel through a series of webinars, in-person meetings, and conference calls; and
- 5. Identifying gaps in quality measurement based on the framework and environmental scan.

SYNTHESIS OF FINDINGS AND DEFINITIONS

NQF staff conducted a comprehensive environmental scan and review of evidence to inform the development of the ED Quality of Transitions of Care measurement framework. The environmental scan included a review of relevant measures and measure concepts, a literature review, and a series of key informant interviews. The methods used to conduct the scan and identify relevant articles are included in **Appendix A**. These findings were synthesized and presented to the Panel in a series of webinars to help inform the development of a measurement framework, by defining the most important components of a high-quality transition.

The primary purpose of the scan was to assist in the development of the measurement framework, and to identify an initial set of measures and measure concepts to consider for inclusion in the framework. The scan focused on care transitions in settings outside of the ED (e.g., hospital to primary care or home), care processes relevant to all care transitions (e.g., medication reconciliation), and target populations and/or conditions that are relevant to acute, unscheduled care.

The scan identified measures and measure concepts by searching trusted sources such as NQF's Quality Positioning System (QPS), Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services' (CMS) Quality Measures Inventory, Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality's (AHRQ) National Quality Measures Clearinghouse, AHRQ's National Guidelines Clearinghouse, Health Indicators Warehouse, The Joint Commission, and previous NQF endorsement and measurement framework projects. The scan identified a total of 136 measures and 42 measure concepts. NQF staff then sorted the measures by relevance: 29 measures were directly relevant to the ED, 30 measures were potentially relevant, 36 measures were indirectly relevant, and 41 measures were not relevant. For a full list of measures and measure concepts that were recommended by the Panel, refer to Appendix C.

The comprehensive literature review referenced authoritative sources such as PubMed, JSTOR, and Academic Search Primer. Grey literature and web searches through Google identified additional presentations, programs, tools, and other documentation related to transitions of care. Over 250 academic journal abstracts were reviewed for relevance, as well as more than 200 grey literature sources. In addition, NQF staff conducted a series of key informant interviews to provide supplemental information specific to ED communications with EMS, technology considerations to support interoperable transitions of care systems, and considerations for long-term and post-acute care transitions into and out of the ED.

NQF staff categorized the findings from the entire environmental scan—the measure review, the literature review, and the key informant interviews—into a series of categories that proved to be foundational in the development of the measurement framework. (See Table 1.)

The following definitions supported the synthesis of the findings:

- **Care coordination** is the deliberate organization of patient care activities between two or more participants (including patient) involved in a patient's care to facilitate the appropriate delivery of healthcare services.
- Patient- and family-centered care is the extent to which care is provided to the patient, caregiver, and/or family, which is respectful of and responsive to individual patient preferences, needs, and values and ensuring that patient values guide all clinical decisions.
- Community services setting refers to an array of services and supports delivered to a patient either at home or in another integrated community setting that promotes the independence, health and well-being, selfdetermination, and community inclusion of a person of any age with any health need.

TABLE 1. FINDINGS FROM THE ENVIRONMENTAL SCAN*

Category	Examples
Notable care transition interventions	Coleman's Care Transitions, ¹⁵ Naylor's Transitional Care Model, ¹⁶ Project RED, ¹⁷ Project BOOST, ¹⁸ the GRACE Model, ¹⁹ and the STAAR Initiative ²⁰
Care transition conceptual models and frameworks	Ideal Transition in Care (ITC Framework), ²¹ National Transitions of Care Coalition (NTOCC) Conceptual Model, ²² NQF's Care Coordination Conceptual Framework, ²³ Conceptual Model for Episodes of Acute, Unscheduled Care, ²⁴ and Care Coordination Across Transitions in Care Settings ²⁵
Transition quality metrics	Whether the transition of care was safe, effective, patient-centered, efficient, and equitable.
Provider information exchange	Sending and receiving of information to support the transition. Examples of best practices to support the timely, salient, effective transfer of information.
Community alignment	Community efforts and resources that may potentially support transitions of care.

*Additional notable and innovative programs and leading practices in transitions of care can be found in Appendix D.

MEASUREMENT FRAMEWORK, MEASURES, CONCEPTS, AND GAPS

Finalizing the Framework, Domains, Subdomains, and Measures/Concepts

Performance measurement is a mechanism for assessing healthcare quality, including whether care is safe, effective, patient-centered, timely, efficient, and equitable.²⁶ The primary purpose of the framework is to define a structure for measuring and evaluating the quality of transitions into and out of the ED. As such, the framework intentionally encompasses all of the different types of providers, patients, families and their caregivers, and community supports that interact with the ED and have the ability to influence quality in an ED transition of care. The framework also takes into account how these interactions change and are influenced by the patient's condition as well as the how the patient comes into the ED. The measurement framework is informed by the synthesis of the results of the environmental scan of measures and literature, key informant interviews, and feedback from the Panel. The framework is composed of domains that articulate high-level ideas, and each domains includes subdomains that provide meaning to the domain by translating the high-level ideas into more measurable actions, outcomes, and events. The Panel identified and refined the framework's priority domains and provided additional granularity on which elements of the domain are essential to performance measurement. The Panel then translated those elements into subdomain topics.

During the development and refinement of the framework, the Panel drew from the following definitions:

 An "episode of acute unscheduled care" refers to the sequence of events from acute illness or injury to recovery, chronic condition, or death. This definition can apply to two types of acute episodes: acute exacerbations of chronic



FIGURE 1. NQF FRAMEWORK DEVELOPMENT PROCESS

conditions and presentations of new acute illness or injuries.²⁷ During an episode of care that involves the ED, transitions in care occur as patients enter the ED (e.g., as a referral from an outpatient provider) and also occur as patients are discharged from the ED and their care transitions to non-ED providers (e.g., primary care physicians or specialists), or to community organizations (e.g., social services).

- A "system of care" refers to the spectrum of settings in which services are delivered that are relevant to an episode of care (e.g., EDs, hospitals, skilled nursing facilities, home health agencies, and community organizations).
- 3. "High-risk transitions" into and out of the ED are characterized by three factors, alone or in combination:
 - The clinical condition/potential condition involved in the ED transition, which may include:
 - A diagnosis that requires immediate treatment (e.g., sepsis, acute myocardial infarction, emergency surgery) or a potential diagnosis that requires immediate treatment (e.g., chest pain, potential ectopic pregnancy)
 - b. A diagnosis that requires defined followup/additional care (e.g., a new diagnosis

of cancer, diabetes, or heart failure) or a potential diagnosis that requires defined follow-up/additional care (e.g., symptoms of unintentional weight loss that could represent cancer)

- c. The initiation of a high-risk medication (e.g., anticoagulation medication for the treatment of pulmonary embolus)
- (2) Underlying comorbid conditions, disabilities, and age of the patient involved in the ED transition, which may include:
 - a. Extremes of age (e.g., neonates, elderly)
 - b. The presence of chronic medical conditions (e.g., heart failure, diabetes, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, cancer)
 - c. The presence of underlying mental illness (e.g., schizophrenia)
 - d. The presence of cognitive or physical disabilities (e.g. dementia, spinal cord injuries)
- (3) The psycho-social-environmental circumstances of the patient involved in the ED transition in care, which may include:
 - a. Compromised economic circumstances/ lack of resources (e.g., poverty, lack of healthcare coverage)

- b. Lack of, or poor access to, care (e.g., no primary care physician, required specialist does not take patients' health insurance)
- c. Substance use disorders (e.g., alcoholism, opioid dependency)
- d. An unsafe home or work environment (e.g., domestic violence)

Domains/Subdomains

The framework's domains are organized into four interrelated components that are essential to a quality transition of care: provider information exchange; patient, family, and caregiver information exchange; engagement of broader community; and achievement of outcomes. Each of the domains includes a definition and a series of subdomains. The domains are to be viewed as dynamic topic areas, not silos, and the goal of the framework is to establish a common fabric in which the domains are threaded and cross-referenced throughout. An additional goal of the framework is to address relevant themes that may not be specified in the domains. For instance, the Panel identified

care fragmentation as a contributing factor to poor quality transitions of care; consequently, the framework was developed in such a way to consider communication across all of the domains. The following table provides definitions for the four domains and ten subdomains.

Provider Information Exchange

Provider information exchange is an essential component of an effective ED transition in care. When patients are referred to the ED for specific care and treatment or transition back to their outpatient providers, providers communicate information with one another in various ways. For transitions into the ED, the referring provider often calls the ED with a brief verbal description of the patient, reason for referral along with clinical details, and contact information for communication after ED care is delivered. However, this communication does not occur consistently. When there's a void in communication, this can confuse the treating ED provider about the reason for referral, diagnostic concerns, and whether additional involvement in





- Accessibility of Services
- Shared Decision Making
- **Connection and Alignment**
- Care Coordination
- Information Sharing/Communication
- Safety
- Healthcare Utilization & Costs
- Experience of Care

the patient's care is desired or expected. This can also confuse the patient as to what care should be delivered in the ED and what to expect.

After ED care, many EDs provide verbal or written reports of information back to primary care or specialty providers; however, this does not occur consistently. There is frequently a request by the ED provider for follow-up within a specific time period (e.g., two to three days). However, it is sometimes not clear whether the primary care physician has the capacity to re-evaluate the patient within that period, or whether there are sufficient resources for ongoing management of the patient's condition. A major measurement gap is that provider information exchange is not standardized (specifically what information is transmitted), and information, in whole or in part, is sometimes not transmitted in a timely manner to the next provider.

Finally, it is sometimes unclear what providers need to do and in what period of time during an ED transition. Specifically, while there is often an implicit expectation for shared accountability and for care coordination, providers may not be fully aware of their responsibilities for transitioning care. Additionally, there are limited standards for the transmission of information from other providers who may be involved in ED transitions in care, such as EMS personnel, advanced care nurses, case managers, and social workers. Ultimately, the Panel identified two subdomains for provider information exchange that are relevant to quality measurement: (1) key information elements and properties of transmission and (2) care coordination and feedback.

Key Information Elements and Properties of Transmission

To optimize transitions, it is important that providers communicate specific information to each other. Information communicated during a transition to the ED may differ from information communicated during a transition from the ED back to the outpatient environment. The Panel identified several key information elements that may be transmitted during ED transitions including:

- Expected plan of care and anticipated contingencies – When patients transfer into and out of the ED, it is important that expectations for specific care from the sending and receiving provider be communicated. This improves the quality of care as the sending provider may have more detailed or current information about the patient's condition. It is also important to describe anticipated contingencies; specifically, how the receiving provider may react to test results and what actions may occur as the patient's condition evolves.
- Chief complaint, history of present illness, reason for transfer, and working diagnosis – It is important to appropriately frame the precise reason for the transfer, which includes the chief complaint—or chief concern—for the transition between settings as well as a brief narrative history of the clinical context of the transfer, working diagnosis, and relevant comorbid conditions.
- Patient acuity Communicating patient acuity is vital because there may be time-sensitive actions required when the patient arrives in the ED (e.g., early administration of antibiotics) or similarly, time-sensitive actions in an outpatient setting (e.g., stress testing to rule out acute coronary syndrome).
- Test results and procedures performed Communicating objective data about test results and procedures performed is relevant to transitions both into and out of the ED.
- Advanced directives Information on patient wishes is important and can often guide specific treatment pathways (i.e., POLST documents).
- Point of contact for family/caregiver status Specific points of contact including contact information for caregivers and how they may be relevant for an ED transition in care are important.
- Follow-up plan of care As a patient transitions out of the ED, EDs should communicate explicit

follow-up plans with the patient and receiving provider with clear contingencies as the patient's condition evolves.

 Capacities and capabilities of the ED and outpatient setting – Providers may share information about specific capabilities of an ED and hospital (i.e., available specialists, test or treatment availability), or capabilities of outpatient settings to implement a plan of care.

During transitions, information may be transmitted in various ways across settings. Depending on the nature of the transition, the modes of the transition are important and may include electronic, telephone, or in-person communication. The clinical context of the transition should guide the mode of transmission. Oftentimes, information is not available in a timely way, yet it is important for transition communication to occur so that information is available prior to the next visit. It is also important to consider the efficiency of how the information is transferred and how systems can facilitate transitions, particularly electronic systems. Today, few systems efficiently manage transitions across settings where providers can easily transmit, receive, and share in the care of patients as they transition into and out of the ED. Systems should be built to structure transition information in a way that easily identifies key information that the receiving provider should focus on (i.e., salient information) related to the transition. This should also be communicated in a way that minimizes provider burden in reviewing information; however, information needs to be complete and comprehensive. The accuracy of the information is vital as well as the ability of the receiving provider to access it.

Care Coordination and Feedback

Providers need to coordinate care across settings, and there should be shared accountability for specific actions across transitions in care. Currently, few systems facilitate care coordination into and out of the ED where it is clear what needs to be done, by whom, and when. The Panel discussed shared accountability not as a way to identify problems in transitions but rather as a way to frame transitions such that each partythe sending and receiving provider—has clear expectations for key information elements and properties of its transmission. That information transfer can be facilitated through design of technology and other ways to standardize ED transitions across settings. The Panel also agreed that it is important that systems be implemented to capture feedback for care transitions on individual patients. For example, when a patient transfers to the ED, and specific care that was expected is not delivered (e.g., a lumbar puncture is not done to rule out meningitis) or when a patient is referred for a specific procedure as an outpatient (e.g., surgery) that is not delivered, it is important for the providers in each setting to receive feedback on patient outcomes so that they can learn about the capacity of different settings and receive feedback on their medical decisions. This feedback is not only important to physicians but also to other providers that interact with patients as they transition in and out of the ED, such as EMS providers, social workers, and care managers. This feedback is vital for continuous quality improvement, especially because different types of providers with different training can be involved in ED transitions.

Environmental Scan

In the environmental scan, the NQF team identified 24 existing quality measures specific to provider information exchange that varied with respect to type (process, structure, and outcome) and whether they were directly, potentially, or indirectly related to provider communication. This included measures related to specific information being sent from the ED to longitudinal settings and vice versa, and from EDs to other facilities. Several metrics were indirectly related to ED transitions and were identified with the goal of modifying them to align more closely with ED transitions.

Existing measures that were thought to be relevant included seven emergency transfer communication measures (percentage of patients transferred to another healthcare facility where several information elements were transmitted within 60 minutes of transfer). Specific information elements included:

- Required information is communicated to the receiving facility prior to departure
- Entire vital signs record is communicated
- Medication information is communicated
- Patient information is communicated
- Physicians information is communicated
- Nursing information is communicated
- Procedures and test information is communicated

A full list of the seven relevant measures is in **Appendix C**.

Measure Concepts and Gaps in Measurement

During the meeting, the Panel identified several measure concepts from existing measures as well as novel concepts. The measure concepts focused on how providers exchanged information with one another during ED care transitions, and focused in particular on high-risk populations, specifically those with a high-risk condition, highrisk comorbid conditions, or other factors such as socioeconomic status that reduced their access to care or was associated with poor health literacy. Specific concepts that were identified include:

- ED medication reconciliation performed with relevant providers for high-risk prescribing
- Transfer of specific information to relevant providers the next clinic day for high-risk ED discharges (two similar concepts were identified)
- Transfer of a transition of care document by emergency medical services at ED arrival. This is known colloquially as the "run sheet."
- Collaborative ED care plans for frequent ED users
- ED visit information available to other providers via health information exchange

• A feedback system for referring providers for specific cases potentially useful for quality improvement

The detailed list of measure concepts identified by the Panel is in Appendix C.

Along with the measure concepts, the Panel identified several measurement gaps where potential concepts have yet to be explicitly identified. Specifically, the Panel determined a particularly important property of transitions in care is the transmission of advanced directive information, which affects whether patients are transferred (in the case of Physician Orders for Life-Sustaining Treatment [POLST], which define advanced directives) and whether patients receive care in the ED in line with their and their family's wishes. The Panel also identified measure gaps around the accuracy of the information that is sent and received during ED transitions in care. There were no specific quality metrics proposed for accuracy; however, the Panel suggested this could potentially be measured through structural measures that assess whether quality improvement processes are in place or through provider experience surveys.

Patient, Family, and Caregiver Information Exchange

Effective patient communication is core to a quality transition of care, and has been linked to improved patient outcomes and reduced readmissions.²⁸ Furthermore, the need for good communication is so widely accepted that a patient's experience with healthcare is now linked to Medicare incentive payments.²⁹ However, despite these new priorities, ED transitions of care pose significant challenges to effective patient-centered communication. Specifically, the ED's role of providing acute unscheduled care typically includes an interaction with a patient whom the ED provider has not seen before. These communication complexities are compounded by frequent interruptions to patient-provider communications inside of the ED.³⁰ As such, the Panel defined quality patient information

exchange to include key information relevant to the ED visit, communicated in an understandable way by the ED provider to the patient and/or caregiver, as well as communication of relevant information to other providers involved in continued care for the patient. NQF's current guidance states that "patient" is a term of art that includes caregivers, family members, parents, and other nonprofessional care providers involved in the team of care. All of these roles supporting patients and their care are critical in providing information and participating in the care process.

When transitioning out of the ED into other settings, patients (or their families or caregivers) need to understand: the working diagnosis of their chief complaint; the expected clinical course of their condition in the short term; and what to do, where to go, and who to call if specific symptoms occur. Unfortunately, this information is not always consistently communicated. While information is often provided in discharge instructions to patients, many patients are confused about the specific care they received in the ED and the plan of care afterwards.³¹ Due to these differences, individualized approaches to information exchange are needed to ensure patients fully comprehend their transition plan.

Within this domain, the Panel proposed two subdomains that are critical to measuring quality in information exchange and communication with patients (or their families or caregivers):

- Key Information Elements and Properties of Transmission: Defined by either information shared by the healthcare team to a patient, or by information shared by the patient to the healthcare team. This subdomain focuses on information that specifically supports the patient in a transition of care.
- 2. Effective Communication and Shared Decision Making: During patients' transitions in care, the extent to which the communication they receive is effective and the opportunity for shared decision making is made available.

The environmental scan identified 15 measures and six concepts related to the domain of patient, family, and caregiver information exchange. In reviewing the relevant measures and concepts, the Panel discussed limitations of existing measures and articulated areas for advancement in measure development.

Current Measure Limitations and Gaps

The measures identified in the scan as potentially supporting patient information exchange were limited to specific settings or patient conditions. For instance, actionable discharge instructions have been identified as a critical component in supporting quality transitions from the ED to home (or nonhospital facility); yet existing measures are narrowly focused on specific conditions, such as asthma or dementia. Furthermore, the Panel recognized that existing measures that focus on patients receiving transition information lack incentives to improve the quality of transition information, as current measures focus on the mere occurrence of information sharing. Finally, existing measures in general did not address shared decision making or provider communication with the patient. The Panel agreed that providers should be incentivized to improve the quality of transition information, specifically measuring quality by how well the information corresponds to the nature of the conditions patients have, their immediate care needs, and resources needed to support their transition. In addition, while several measures that had been developed to support the CMS Meaningful Use program emphasis on electronic access to health information (personal and general) were found to be relevant, the Panel stressed the need to consider new and innovative ways to incentivize communication of information in a manner that is understandable, relevant, and accessible to the patient.

Moving Beyond Accepted Process

The Panel identified several existing measures relevant to the domain that are now covered through The Joint Commission's hospital accreditation guidance, or are generally accepted as common practice. For instance, review of the transition record with the patient at discharge and documentation of advanced care directives in the medical record are both widely implemented as standard practice. The Panel reiterated guidance for future quality measurement to focus on the assessment of information and how it is communicated to the patient. Specifically, quality should be measured by how well the transition record includes the necessary information to support patient needs. The Panel proposed several criteria on how to assess the quality of information communicated to the patient, including:

- Inclusion of clear instructions for next steps in care;
- Anticipated contingencies and specific steps to follow should changes occur; and
- Phone number for the patient to call post-discharge.

Other measure gaps identified by the Panel included an assessment of patients' potential barriers to a quality transition. For instance, an assessment may include availability of insurance (e.g., access to follow-up care or medications), availability of needed social supports, or the patients' health literacy status. One priority identified by the Panel is the need to measure whether conversations between providers and patients meaningfully incorporate the patients' goals, values, and preferences into a care plan through respectful and compassionate conversations. These discussions should elicit patients' goals and values as well as encourage patients to be partners in shared decision making.

Concepts That Could Fill Gaps

The Panel identified measure gaps regarding the specific information provided to patients at the time of discharge, noting that not all patients require the same types and amount of information. Potential concepts to address gaps in the area of key information and its transmission and effective communication and shared decision making include:

• ED-based telephone number for post-discharge questions provided to the patient, if needed

- Documentation of specific information provided to the patient
- Follow-up appointment scheduled for patients who lack a designated primary care provider
- Discharge instructions provided in the patient's preferred language and appropriate literacy level while taking into account the patient's socioeconomic status
- Documentation of a designated healthcare point of contact for treatment planning that has been shared with available family or caregivers for nonverbal patients
- Shared decision making process

The detailed list of measure concepts identified by the Panel is in Appendix C.

Engagement of the Broader Community

Engaging the broader community, defined as both clinical and nonclinical supports, in transitions of care efforts can have a promising effect on a patient's health trajectory. Historically, however, supports for the patient have existed in silos rather than as a unified system of care. With less than 1 percent of any given person's life spent inside the healthcare system, a vast majority of time is spent outside of the clinical care environment.³² Having a better understanding of a patient's social needs and putting mechanisms in place to address those needs may reduce unnecessary healthcare use and cost. Unfortunately, determining which patients require community supports and that ensuring those community supports are available when needed remains a challenge. This is particularly an issue in ED care, which serves as a safety net where complex circumstances arise for patients that intersect with law enforcement, social service agencies, housing, and other community resources.

The engagement of the broader community is defined as the extent to which the broader community's organizations, services, and information technology infrastructures are available and engaged to support a quality transition of care. The community setting refers to an array of clinical and nonclinical services that support care delivered to a patient and promote the independence, health and well-being, selfdetermination, and inclusion of a person of any age with any health need. The Panel recognized the importance of both clinical and nonclinical aspects to transitions in care that may need to involve not only clinical care providers but also other nonclinical resources in the community. Within this domain, the Panel proposed two subdomains that are critical when engaging the broader community:

- Connection and Alignment is defined as the identification, availability, and engagement of appropriate clinical and nonclinical community services that support a transition of care. This should include multidirectional communication to facilitate care coordination with the ability to leverage existing communication pathways and should include the sharing of a patient-centered care plan to better promote linkages within the broader community.
- 2. Accessibility of Services is defined as the assessment of the availability of community supports and services that support transitions of care.

The Panel deemed the subdomains as important because identifying and engaging available community services and supports (e.g., housing, food, and transportation) creates a system that works collaboratively for the greater good of the patient. Ensuring that these services are accessible to patients in need is essential to improving health outcomes. Knowing what is available within each community will lead to a better understanding of potential community needs and gaps in care. The environmental scan identified 16 measures and seven measure concepts related to the domain of Engagement of the Broader Community. In reviewing the measures and concepts, the Panel determined that some of the measures did not specifically focus on the greater community's system of care and thus concluded that these measures did fit within this domain. Accordingly, the Panel focused considerable attention on key

themes in measure concepts given the lack of focus on the broader community in the current measurement landscape:

- 1. Importance of care coordination services. The use of care managers, social workers, coordinators and navigators within the ED is an important aspect of transitions of care. The availability of these services provides patients with the human resources to help with various needs including scheduling follow-up appointments, connecting them with community resources, and facilitating communication with payers, family members, or other members from the patient care team. The Panel did note that, while care coordination services are intended to reduce fragmentation, they may inadvertently contribute to it. One example was provided of a woman who had fallen for the third time in six months and when offered a care manager, she refused stating that she already had five-two from her health plan, one from the hospital, one from the ED, and one from her primary care physician's office. Knowing who is on a patient's care team-whether it be a family member, caregiver, primary care physician, or care manager—can reduce fragmentation and ensure a more integrated health system focused on working together seamlessly. The Panel recognized that a measure concept focused on the idea of care coordination would not be practical if it applied to every person who came to the ED and instead proposed that such a measure would focus only on patients who were identified as high-risk or otherwise in need of such services.
- 2. Knowing about and using available community resources. The Panel discussed assessing health and social needs (e.g., transportation, income, food) of patients who may be considered high-risk and connecting them with available community services. Having knowledge about needed services and meaningful linkages between the ED and the community were prioritized for both clinical and nonclinical organizations. A large part of the Panel's

discussion also focused on accountability and who should be responsible for collecting and maintaining a list of available resources as well as making any necessary referrals. Two resources were discussed that could serve as examples for EDs as well as primary care physicians, specialists, etc.—Aunt Bertha and 2-1-1 San Diego. Aunt Bertha is a customizable platform for healthcare systems and social services that allows these entities to find and refer clients to myriad services based on a specific zip code.³³ Putting such systems in place within the ED could be a starting point to ensure that a provider is connecting a patient with appropriate, nearby services. Related to this idea, the Panel discussed the concept of assessing patients at high risk for a transition failure due to unmet needs. Developing a validated tool to track patients' "high-risk score" over time and referring them to necessary community supports based on that score was something that the Panel agreed was aspirational, but something that could be considered for future measurement development.

3. Bidirectional communication. Many health systems lack the infrastructure and incentives to develop systems that support bidirectional communication between clinical and nonclinical services, which makes closing the referral loop difficult and jeopardizes successful transitions of care. The Panel discussion focused on the need for a system that allows a sending facility (e.g., the ED) to see that its referral to a community service (e.g., Meals on Wheels) was received to support better communication among clinical and nonclinical services. Subsequently, the Panel recommended one concept related to bidirectional communication. The Panel noted an initiative, the San Diego Community Information Exchange (CIE), which links the databases of organizations including housing and elder service agencies, paramedics, Meals on Wheels, and other similar organization who serve vulnerable populations.³⁴ This initiative is enhancing bidirectional communication across

providers who serve the same clients and allows real time information to be shared, leading to better service delivery and positive community health and social outcomes.

Given the lack of measures within this domain, the Panel focused on measure concepts that could fill noted gaps. The Panel also recognized that several of its identified concepts were aspirational and agreed that the gaps listed below are important but will require additional research to build the relevant evidence base, measure development and testing, and additional data sources and sharing capabilities:

- Best practices around how to best close the referral loop between providers
- How to leverage payers in care coordination activities
- Challenges related to shared accountability between the ED and community organizations
- Determining whether repeat ED visits are the result of a failed system
- Privacy concerns when engaging community supports and services
- The importance of collecting information on the patient's care team at the time of transition

The detailed list of measure concepts identified by the Panel is in Appendix C.

Achievement of Outcomes

Key questions within healthcare include: What is the outcome of care provided, and did the health status of the patient change positively or adversely? Process measures highlight whether services have been provided or documented, but outcome measures assess the results. Measuring outcomes in transitions of care is particularly problematic given that transitions occur across multiple settings. Early in its discussion, the Panel discussed the challenge of measurement as the patient moves from one setting (point A) to the ED (point B) and then back to the original setting or a different setting (point C). While these three settings may be completely separate (i.e., have no relationship with one another), there is an implied 'system of care' as the patient moves from one setting to another, and the goal is to measure outcomes in each setting. The achievement of outcomes is the extent to which quality patientcentered ED transition of care outcomes occur across patient episodes of acute care within systems of care.

Outcomes of transitions in care need to be considered from different perspectives—the patient, the provider, the organization, and the payer. The Panel proposed four subdomains that incorporate these different perspectives:

- Healthcare Use and Costs: Healthcare use may include ED visits, hospital admissions/ readmissions, medications, procedures, testing, and transportation. Increased utilization and costs may occur due to poor transitions leading to duplicative care and additional investment of provider resources. Better patient transitions have the potential to reduce cost and unnecessary use. Utilization and cost measures should be paired with quality measures.
- 2. **Provider Experience:** Assess the transition team members' experiences working within systems of care responsible for delivering coordinated care. Provider experience may also relate to resources within the broader community, and how specific resources may facilitate ED transitions or the lack of resources may make transitions more difficult.
- 3. Patient/Family/Caregiver Experience: The ways in which the patient, family, and caregiver experience care in a transition may be affected by the level of respect and responsiveness to individual patient preferences, needs, and values—and ensuring that patient preferences and values guide all clinical decisions.
- 4. Follow-Up and Safety Outcomes: During a transition in care, the extent to which there are institutional processes to ensure appropriate care during the ED visit and appropriate follow-up after the ED visit.

The environmental scan identified 16 measures and five measure concepts related to the Achievement of Outcomes domain. In reviewing the measures and concepts, the Panel discussed the limitations of existing measures, considerations related to diverse patient conditions transitioning through the ED, and the challenges of measuring followup. The Panel focused considerable attention on measure concepts given the lack of outcome measures for transitions in care. During the Panel's discussions, the following key themes were identified:

Overcoming the limitations of current

measures: Most of the suggested measures for the achievement of outcomes were developed for use in a single setting. The Panel discussed pairing measures that would allow EDs to capture activities in multiple settings, (e.g., documentation of needed follow-up by the ED and verification of any follow-up provided in the next setting). Paired measures would also encourage shared accountability, (i.e., all the providers in the patient's system of care would have specific responsibilities within their setting). The Panel also determined that some of the suggested measures were too narrow and should be re-purposed (e.g., re-specified) for broader application. For example, most medication reconciliation measures were specified for a single setting or a subpopulation of patients. The Panel suggested that a more effective medication reconciliation measure would be one driven by a change in the patient's medications (e.g., when a medication is added, deleted, or has a change in dosage). Such a measure could be specified for a broad denominator of patients across a variety of settings. Of note, the Provider Information Exchange domain also addressed medication reconciliation measures since these are typically process and not outcome measures.

• Developing measures for high-risk patients: EDs care for a wide variety of patients, with complex medical and social needs, all of which complicate transitions in care. The Panel agreed that measures or concepts should be able to assess a diverse set of patients with varying needs. In particular, the Panel identified patients at high risk of having a poor transition in care and patients who use the ED frequently as two groups requiring special attention. The Panel recognized that high-risk patients and patients who use the ED frequently typically require additional time and resources, which may not always be available. Even while recognizing the challenges in ensuring an effective transition of care for these patients, the Panel agreed it was important for the ED to take initial steps in measurement that would enable the ED to become an even more effective partner within the system of care.

 Patient follow-up including return visits to the ED: In transitions of care, one of the important assessments is whether the patient received any necessary follow-up after discharge. The Panel recommended two concepts for patient followup, recognizing that there are multiple decision makers in follow-up. In sharing information with the next setting of care, the ED provider may include recommendations for follow-up. The provider seeing the patient in the next setting of care determines what specific follow-up care is needed and how continuing care should be delivered (e.g., visit, phone call, email). The patient also plays a role in follow-up based on the patient's understanding of what follow-up needs to occur and the patient's ability to access needed follow-up. The Panel also discussed the importance of distinguishing between scheduled and unscheduled return visits to the ED. Patients may be scheduled for return visits to the ED for several reasons, including wound checks as well as follow-up due to lack of outpatient access to primary care or other specialty services (e.g., sickle cell clinic). Unlike these scheduled return visits, unscheduled return visits to the ED may signal a poor transition for the patient. Determining the reason for the unscheduled return visit is critical, but will mean additional

data collection from the patient to determine the reason for the return visit, (e.g., the patient was uncertain about what to do or expectations after leaving the ED previously, or the patient was unable to access needed medications or services following the previous ED visit). With this additional information, it is possible to develop interventions or strategies to improve transitions in care that can lead to better outcomes and reduced costs.

Concepts That Could Fill Gaps

Given the lack of outcome measures for transitions in care, the Panel focused on measure concepts that could fill identified measure gaps. The Panel also recognized that several of its identified concepts were quite aspirational and would potentially require research to build the evidence base, measure development and testing, and additional data sources and data sharing capabilities. Whenever possible, the Panel tried to identify either initial or intermediate measures that would help build a pathway to the more aspirational concepts. For example, better provider access to patient information may reduce duplicate testing. Potential concepts to support gaps in this area include:

- Reduction in duplicate testing
- Improved transitions for patients who are frequent users of the ED
- Provider experience with selected aspects of transitions
- Patient experience during transitions of care
- Follow-up with patients after discharge from the ED
- Reduction in adverse drug events
- Return visits to the ED

The detailed list of measure concepts identified by the Panel is in Appendix C.

TABLE 2. ED TRANSITIONS IN CARE MEASUREMENT FRAMEWORK: DOMAINS AND SUBDOMAINS

Domains and Definitions	Subdomains and Definitions
Provider Information Exchange: Communication and transfer of information between providers that occurs during transitions of care into and out of the emergency department.	 Key Information Elements and Properties of Transmission: Key information includes the following: Expected plan of care and anticipated contingencies Chief complaint, history of present illness, working diagnosis, and reason for transfer Patient acuity Test results and procedures performed Advanced directives (i.e., POLST documents) Point of contact for family/caregiver status Follow-up plan of care Capacities and capabilities of the ED and outpatient setting to handle care Contact information and specific requests about communication
	 (e.g., return phone call) Depending on the nature of the transition, different variations of information transfer modes may be important. These may include modality (electronic, telephone, in-person), timeliness, efficiency, salience/parsimony, accuracy, feasibility, specific providers involved, and accessibility of the information. Care Coordination and Feedback: This includes sharing accountability for collaborative care during the transition of care to transmit and receive key information in a manner appropriate to the nature of the transition. In addition, feedback needs to be provided to providers across settings to improve care and care transitions.

Domains and Definitions

Patient, Family, And Caregiver

Information Exchange: Interactive

bidirectional communication between

patients (and their families, caregivers,

or health proxies) and multidisciplinary

healthcare team (e.g., case manager, nurse, primary care physician)

Subdomains and Definitions

Key Information Elements and Properties of Transmission:

There are two communication pathways for key information:

- 1. Healthcare team to patient
 - Diagnosis and cause(s) or potential cause(s) of condition
 - Expected short- and long-term course and treatment plan
 - Anticipated contingencies for possible symptom/condition evolution
 - Short-term and potentially long-term logistics of care
 - Diagnosis-specific and community-specific resources
- 2. Patient to healthcare team
 - Contact information for preferred and secondary point of contact
 - Contact information for care team (may include primary care physician, care manager, specialist, etc.)
 - Informed consent
 - Desires for follow-up care
 - Desires for sharing information
 - Advanced directives (i.e., POLST documents)
 - Living will
 - Information about managing symptoms
 - Medication information
 - Any logistic barriers or facilitators of care that are relevant

Modes of communication exchange may include verbal (e.g., in-person or telephone), digital (e.g., email, text, or video), written, fax, health IT (e.g., patient portal or EHR). Modality may be informed by an assessment of patient preferences.

• Effective Communication and Shared Decision Making: Effective communication and shared decision making encompass the assessment of patients' needs and verification that the patients' needs and preferences have been met.

Effective communication will establish what (if any) potential barriers exist for patients to effectively receive communication about their health status and care. Potential barriers may include lack of insurance to access follow-up care or medications, lack of social supports, or lack of health literacy.

Meaningfully incorporating individuals' goals, values, and preferences into care planning requires respectful and compassionate conversations between providers and patients. These discussions should elicit patients' goals and values as well as encourage patients and caregivers to be partners in decision making.

Domains and Definitions	Subdomains and Definitions
Engagement of the Broader Community: The extent to which the broader community's organizations, services, and information technology infrastructures are available and engaged to support a quality transition of care into and out of the ED. The community setting refers to an array of clinical and nonclinical services and supports the care delivered to a patient that promotes the independence, health and well-being, self-determination, and community inclusion of a person of any age with any health need.	 Connection and Alignment: The identification, availability, and engagement of appropriate clinical and nonclinical community services that support a transition of care. This should include multidirectional communication to facilitate care coordination with the ability to leverage existing communication pathways and should include the sharing of a patient-centered care plan to better promote linkages within the broader community. Accessibility of Services: Assessment of the availability of community supports and services that support transitions of care.
Achievement of Outcomes: The extent to which quality patient-centered ED transition of care outcomes occur across patient episodes of acute care within systems of care.	• Healthcare Utilization and Costs: Healthcare utilization may include ED visits, hospital admissions/readmissions, medications, procedures, testing, and transportation. Increased utilization and costs may occur due to poor transitions leading to duplicative care and additional investment of provider resources. Better patient transitions into and out of the ED have the potential to reduce cost and unnecessary utilization. Utilization and cost measures should be reported with quality measures.
	• Provider Experience: Assess the transition team members' experiences working within systems of care responsible for delivering coordinated care. Provider experience may also relate to resources within the broader community, and how specific resources may facilitate ED transitions or the lack of resources may make transitions more difficult.
	• Patient/Family/Caregiver Experience: The ways in which the patient, family, and caregiver experience care in a transition—may take into consideration level of respect and responsiveness to individual patient preferences, needs, and values, and ensuring that patient values guide all clinical decisions.
	• Follow-Up and Safety Outcomes: During a transition in care, the extent to which there are institutional processes to ensure appropriate care during the ED visit and appropriate follow-up after the ED visit.

Common Themes

The Expert Panel identified a series of common themes across the four domains:

- The importance of timely and effective communication across and between stakeholders;
- 2. The need to increase linkages between providers and other community resources to optimize transitions; and
- 3. The importance of finding outcomes that are proximally or directly related to ED transitions to monitor quality improvement efforts.

Two common themes emerged within the domains of Provider Information Exchange and Patient, Family, and Caregiver Information Exchange. First, it is vital that specific information elements are communicated during ED transitions in care. Second, all stakeholders should be accountable for healthcare decisions involved in a transition. Specific and complete information is important for both providers and patients to cultivate a shared understanding of the patient's current condition and plans for care, the prior history and context of the condition, expectations for care, and communication. For this process to run smoothly, a health information technology infrastructure would ideally enable providers and patients to share information and serve as the platform for shared accountability and decision making. The timing of information transfer between providers, patients, and the community was identified as a vital part of this communication. For the most effective care to be delivered, the entity caring for the patient should optimally have complete access to the patient's information. Therefore, providers need to transmit information so that the next provider (i.e., the ED, primary care provider, specialist, or community stakeholder) has a clear understanding of what is needed to best deliver continued care for the patient at the time of the visit.

To optimize sharing of information outside of the ED, engagement of the community is vital. Because the ED is often a source of care within the community, the ED and community stakeholders must collaborate to ensure that transitions are optimized. Improving this process involves increasing the connectivity of the healthcare community and ensuring that EDs have complete and updated information about community resources and that the resources are available to the patient as needed.

Finally, the Panel recognized that ED transitions have the potential to enhance or reduce the quality of care and that focusing on both providers and patients on improving this process will lead to measurable *outcomes*. Measuring outcomes is a vital component to ED transitions and while it may be, for example, difficult to link a specific safety outcome to transitions, several measurable outcomes are important, including healthcare utilization and costs, accessibility of follow-up, and clinical outcomes.

PRIORITY MEASURES AND MEASURE CONCEPTS

The Panel identified and subsequently prioritized measures and measure concepts during an in-person meeting, a series of conference calls, and an online survey. The Panel initially assessed all of the measures, potential measure concepts, and existing measure gaps identified in the environmental scan. Panel members were then assigned to one domain to further evaluate the measures for elimination or to determine if additional measure concepts were needed.

A total of six measures and 24 measure concepts were submitted by the assigned domain Panel members to be considered for the prioritization exercise. The entire Panel was asked to rank each of the final measures and measure concepts on their importance and feasibility via an online survey. Importance was rated on a scale of one through five (1 as low, 3 as moderate, and 5 as high), with consideration of the following:

- 1. The relevance to ED transitions of care;
- Whether it is a high-priority area and to what extent it focuses on important or aspirational outcomes, is meaningful to the patient, or supports a systemic/integrated view of care;
- 3. The impact of the measure as to whether it affects large/small numbers of patients, addresses a leading cause of morbidity/ mortality, or contributes to inappropriate resource use; and
- 4. The likelihood that what is being measured will improve the quality of care during the transition.

Similarly, feasibility was rated on a scale of one through five (1 as not feasible, 3 as aspirational/ potentially feasible in the future, and 5 as very feasible today), with consideration of the following:

- 1. Availability and ease of capturing data;
- 2. Resource requirements including consideration for total cost of implementing the measure or education/training of the workforce; and
- 3. Organizational readiness to tackle the issue related to the measure or measure concept, including consideration for variability across organizations and how that affects readiness, capacity, adoption of quality improvement, and implementation of the measure or measure concept.

These criteria were selected because of their relevance to both prioritization of existing measures and measure concepts for future development. NQF staff collected and analyzed the survey results.

Results

The prioritization results are based on a total of 15 responses representing two-thirds of the Panel. All of the measures and measure concepts received moderate (3) to high (5) scores for importance. Feasibility scores ranged from not feasible or aspirational (2) to very feasible today (5). The measures and measure concepts were given an overall rank by calculating the product of the average importance and feasibility scores. The distribution of the rank scores align with three implementation readiness areas: aspirational or long-term, mid-term, or feasible today.

Prioritization Findings

Five measures and measure concepts ranked high in importance and feasibility and are recommended as ready for implementation today. These measures and concepts focus on:

- Provider communication (e.g., EMS, ED, other facilities);
- Patient-centered communication and discharge activities; and
- Community resource information to support transitions.

Nineteen measures and measure concepts ranked moderate to high importance and moderate feasibility and are recommended as ready for implementation in the mid-term. The focus of these measures and concepts include:

- Care managers, coordinators, and navigator services in the ED;
- Improved discharge instructions with considerations for patient language, socioeconomic status, and contact information;
- Timeliness of information transfer to support high-risk transitions; and
- Provider and patient experience with ED transitions in care.

Six measures and measure concepts ranked moderate to high importance and low feasibility and are recommended as aspirational measures for future development and implementation. These measures and concepts include:

- Reduction in duplicate testing based on payerlevel data;
- Improved transitions for frequent users of ED;
- Bidirectional communication between clinical and community resources; and
- Shared care plan between the patient, primary care provider, and ED for frequent ED users.

Prioritization Themes

As part of the measure ranking and prioritization exercise, the Panel also provided feedback on the importance and feasibility of each of the measures and measure concepts (see **Appendix D** for the prioritization results and feedback). This feedback mirrors the overall recommendations made by the Panel.

RECOMMENDATIONS: PRIORITIES FOR ED QUALITY OF TRANSITIONS OF CARE AND PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT

Through a multistakeholder review process, the Panel assessed the state of quality measurement for ED transitions of care. The Panel identified measures and concepts that, today and in the future, may improve ED transitions and make information more understandable to patients. The Panel also identified measures and concepts to promote new linkages between clinical and nonclinical settings and to make existing linkages more effective. Finally, the Panel recognized the importance of developing outcome measures to help monitor the implementation of systems to optimize ED transitions.

The Panel also developed recommendations to promote positive policy change in support of the measure recommendations. Similar to the prioritization process, the Panel identified steps that could be implemented today to improve ED transitions, as well as longer-term aspirational goals.

1. EDs should expand infrastructure and increase linkages to support patient-centered ED transitions.

- a. Hospitals should invest in ED-based care managers, navigators, and social workers, and facilitate linkages and referrals to community health workers and healthcare coaches. EDs are open 24-7; similarly, these services need to be available 24-7 when patients need them.
- b. ED-based systems should be available (e.g., a phone number or other communication system) to answer discharged patients' questions, such as how to take new medications, or questions about the evolution of symptoms.
- c. EDs should have up-to-date, accurate

information on available clinical providers for follow-up and for community resources. This information should be available to patients. Ideally, there should be a systematic collection of community resources by communities (e.g., the 2-1-1 system in San Diego).³⁵ ED-focused processes should also facilitate linkages and referrals to available clinical providers and community resources.

2. Enhancements to health information technology (health IT) are required to support high-quality ED transitions in care.

- a. Health information exchanges are a public good and should be supported by public funding or by payers. An aspirational goal is a unified medical record stored in the cloud that clinical and nonclinical providers and patients can access. Health IT should be developed to allow sharing of key information elements important to ED transitions between hospitals or health systems as well as between clinical and nonclinical providers. Data sharing includes adding standardized data fields to capture social determinants of health (e.g., homelessness, health literacy, and patient's preferred language).
- b. Specifically, data elements related to ED transitions in care should conform to EHR standards and should be sharable across IT systems. These data elements should also be standardized for use in eMeasures that can be automatically extracted from the EHR to reduce the burden on systems to conduct manual extraction for quality measures. In addition, EMS information should be standardized through the EHR. It should also be recognized that HIPAA is a perceived

barrier to data sharing, and systems should allow for secure data transfer and sharing across systems that enhance data accessibility while ensuring data privacy and security. Enhanced interoperability is supported by provisions in the 21st Century Cures Act of 2016 which seeks to break down barriers to information sharing. Good examples of successful data sharing are the regional data exchanges such as the HealthShare Exchange of Southeastern Pennsylvania and Chesapeake Regional Information System for our Patients (CRISP) which serves the metropolitan DC area.

- c. Health IT should facilitate feedback about patients across systems of care particularly when cases are useful for quality improvement—to promote a learning system.
- d. Health IT should integrate information from multiple sources (e.g., pharmacy data, prescription drug monitoring programs, local clinics, and other health systems).
- e. Similar to an admission/discharge/transfer alert system, health IT should allow care team members or the medical home to be alerted, when appropriate, when patients arrive or depart the ED. This notification system could also be controlled directly by patients.
- f. Health IT should be developed to support shared decision making between providers and patients during ED transitions. A good example is the Chest Pain Choice Trial, where a shared decision making tool lowered admission rates for ED patients with chest pain without compromising safety.³⁶
- g. Health IT should be developed to overcome privacy concerns that can be barriers to information sharing between providers and community-based organizations. One facilitator would be a common consent form. Alternatively, health information exchanges or a unified medical record could allow patients to control their personal information.

- h. Tools should be developed by ED providers and others to enhance a patients' understanding of their conditions. For example, information in the form of videos could help explain the evolution of common symptoms and how to handle specific issues as the condition evolves after ED discharge.
- 3. New payment models and other levers may facilitate quality improvement in ED transitions.
 - a. EDs, hospitals, and other entities (e.g., health plans and managed care) that move to global budgets/capitation to reward entities for coordinated care may promote investment in ED transitions. This has worked in integrated delivery systems.³⁷ These investments may improve the quality of ED transitions by reducing inefficient ED downstream use (e.g., unscheduled ED revisits) and increasing necessary follow-up.
 - b. New payment models should be considered to reimburse providers using existing or new feefor-service codes or for activities related to ED transitions.³⁸ For example, new reimbursement codes could be developed for ED-based observation units to provide more intensive care coordination services.³⁹ Consideration should also be given to reimbursing primary care providers and specialists for coordination efforts or for follow-up not involving an in-person visit. These additional payments may support the resources needed to deliver high-quality ED transitions and promote shared accountability among providers.
 - New payment models should also be considered with measurement at the community-level to promote linkages with EDs and information sharing.
 - d. Other levers that may facilitate the improvement of ED transitions in care include building in recommended standards for ED transitions into accreditation programs or requiring EHR vendors to include functionality.

4. Research agenda

- a. Taxonomies are needed to support improved ED transitions in care for: (1) care-team to care-team communication, and (2) careteam to patient communication. Specifically, these taxonomies would create the information elements that should be shared with parameters describing recommended modalities and timing for information sharing.
- b. Research is needed to understand which patients are at highest risk for encountering problems with poor quality or poor outcomes related to ED transitions, and which interventions work best to reduce transitionrelated problems as well as improve outcomes. Specifically, research is needed to identify ways that specific patients could be screened to identify unmet social service needs that may increase the risk of poor ED transitions.
- CONCLUSION

Care fragmentation across the healthcare system leads to patient anxiety, ambiguity, avoidable resource use, and the potential worsening of a patient's condition. Fragmentation and its ill effects are often magnified in ED transitions in care because ED providers have no prior patient relationships, and they treat acute, high-risk conditions as well as patients who are socioeconomically disadvantaged. Through an environmental scan and a multidisciplinary Expert Panel, NQF has developed a framework to measure the quality of ED transitions in care; describe the current science of ED transitions measurement; provide recommendations for developing new measures; and disseminate successful programs

- c. Stakeholders in ED transitions in care (e.g., providers, payers, policymakers, researchers, and health IT vendors) should identify, develop, evaluate, and promulgate promising models for ED and community engagement including:
 - » Linkages between EDs and law enforcement, social services, legal support, housing, and other resources;
 - » Linkages to payer resources;
 - » Linkages between EDs and local clinical providers; and
 - » Linkages between EDs and mental health/ substance use facilities.
- d. Research should assess the cost-effectiveness as well as the health return on investment from the patient, provider, payer, and society perspectives for interventions to improve ED transitions.

to ensure that information transfer is seamless and complete, while minimizing the burden on providers. Promoting measures of accountability as well as new payment models and other levers (i.e., accreditation and EHR standards) may lead to more consistent, clearer communication among providers, patients, and the broader community during ED transitions, enhancing person-centered care, value, and cost efficiency—all of which are positive and measureable health outcomes. Focusing efforts on enhanced collaboration and care coordination will drive quality improvement and enhance the quality of transitions of care into and out of the ED.

ENDNOTES

1 Duseja R, Bardach NS, Lin GA, et al. Revisit rates and associated costs after an emergency department encounter: a multistate analysis. *Ann Intern Med.* 2015; 162(11):750-756.

2 Jencks SF, Williams MV, Coleman EA. Rehospitalizations among patients in the Medicare fee-for-service program. *New Engl J Med.* 2009; 360(14):1418-1428.

3 National Transitions of Care Coalition (NTCC). Improving Transitions of Care: Findings and Considerations of the "Vision of the National Transitions of Care Coalition". Little Rock, AR; 2010. Available at http:// www.ntocc.org/portals/0/pdf/resources/ntoccissuebriefs. pdf. Last accessed May 2017.

4 Kern LM, Seirup JK, Casalino LP, et al. Healthcare fragmentation and the frequency of radiology and other diagnostic tests: a cross-sectional study. *J Gen Intern Med.* 2017;32(2):175-181.

5 Meisel ZF, Pollack CV. Patient Safety in Emergency Care Transitions. *AHC Media*. June 25, 2006. https://www. ahcmedia.com/articles/120828-patient-safety-in-emergency-care-transitions. Last accessed May 2017.

6 Katz EB, Carrier ER, Umscheid CA, et al. Comparative effectiveness of care coordination interventions in the emergency department: a systematic review. *Ann Emerg Med.* 2012;60(1):12-23.

7 Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ). Healthcare Cost and Utilization Project HCUPnet website. https://hcupnet.ahrq.gov/#setup. Last accessed May 2017.

8 Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS). Emergency Medical Treatment & Labor Act (EMTALA) website. https://www.cms.gov/regulations-and-guidance/ legislation/emtala/. Last accessed May 2017.

9 American College of Emergency Physicians (ACEP) Transitions of Care Task Force. *Transitions of Care Task Force Report.* Washington, DC: ACEP; 2012. Available at https://www.acep.org/WorkArea/linkit.aspx?LinkIdentifier =id&ItemID=91206. Last accessed May 2017.

10 National Quality Forum (NQF). *MAP Families of Measures: Safety, Care Coordination, Cardiovascular Conditions, Diabetes.* Washington, DC: NQF; 2012. Available at http://www.qualityforum.org/WorkArea/linkit. aspx?LinkIdentifier=id&ItemID=71952. Last accessed May 2017. **11** American College of Emergency Physicians (ACEP) Transitions of Care Task Force. *Transitions of Care Task Force Report.* Washington, DC: ACEP; 2012. Available at https://www.acep.org/WorkArea/linkit.aspx?LinkIdentifier =id<emID=91206. Last accessed May 2017.

12 Rising KL, Padrez KA, O'Brien M, et al. Return visits to the emergency department: the patient perspective. *Ann Emerg Med.* 2015;65(4):377-386.

13 Rising KL, Victor TW, Hollander JE, et al. Patient returns to the emergency department: the time-to-return curve. *Ann Emerg Med.* 2014;21(8):864-871.

14 Duseja R, Bardach NS, Lin GA, et al. Revisit rates and associated costs after an emergency department encounter: a multistate analysis. *Ann Intern Med.* 2015;162(11):750-756.

15 The Care Transitions Program. Eric A. Coleman, MD, MPH: the Care Transitions Program website. http:// caretransitions.org/. Last accessed July 2017.

16 University of Pennsylvania School of Nursing. NewCourtland Center for Transitions and Health: transitional care model website. https://www.nursing.upenn. edu/ncth/transitional-care-model/. Last accessed July 2017.

17 Boston University Medical Center. Project RED (re-engineered discharge) website. https://www.bu.edu/fammed/projectred/. Last accessed July 2017.

18 Society of Hospital Medicine. Project BOOST mentored implementation program website. http://www.hospitalmedicine.org/Web/Quality___Innovation/Mentored_ Implementation/Project_BOOST/Project_BOOST.aspx. Last accessed July 2017.

19 Counsell SR, Callahan CM, Buttar AB, et al. Geriatric resources for assessment and care of elders (GRACE): a new model of primary care for low-income seniors. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 2006; 54(7):1136-1141.

20 Institute for Healthcare Improvement (IHI). STate Action on Avoidable Rehospitalizations (STAAR) overview website. http://www.ihi.org/Engage/Initiatives/ Completed/STAAR/Pages/default.aspx. Last accessed July 2017.

21 Burke RE, Guo R, Prochazka AV, et al. Identifying keys to success in reducing readmissions using the ideal transitions in care framework. *BMC Health Serv Res.* 2014;14:423.

22 National Transitions of Care Coalition Work Group. *Transitions of Care Measures.* Little Rock, AR; 2008. Available at http://www.ntocc.org/Portals/0/PDF/ Resources/TransitionsOfCare_Measures.pdf. Last accessed July 2017.

23 National Quality Forum (NQF). *Priority Setting for Healthcare Performance Measurement: Addressing Performance Measure Gaps in Care Coordination.* Washington, DC: NQF; 2014. Available at http://www. qualityforum.org/WorkArea/linkit.aspx?LinkIdentifier=id&I temID=77422. Last accessed July 2017.

24 Pines JM, Lotrecchiano GR, Zocchi MS, et al. A conceptual model for episodes of a**cute**, unscheduled care. *Ann Emerg Med*. 2016; 68(4):484-491.

25 Radwin LE, Castonguay D, Keenan CB, et al. An expanded theoretical framework of care coordination across transitions in care settings. *J Nurs Care Qual.* 2016;31(3):269-274.

26 Institute of Medicine (IOM). *Crossing the Quality Chasm: A New Health System for the 21st Century.* Washington, DC: The National Academies Press; 2001.

27 Pines JM, Lotrecchiano GR, Zocchi MS, et al. A conceptual model for episodes of acute, unscheduled care. *Ann Emerg Med.* 2016; 68(4):484-491.

28 Auerbach AD, Kripalani S, Vasilevskis EE, et al. Preventability and causes of readmissions in a national cohort of general medicine patients. *JAMA Intern Med.* 2016;176(4):484-493.

29 McCarthy DM, Ellison EP, Venkatesh AK, et al. Emergency department team communication with the patient: the patient's perspective. *J Emerg Med.* 2013;45(2):262-270.

30 Burke RE, Guo R, Prochazka AV, et al. Identifying keys to success in reducing readmissions using the ideal transitions in care framework. *BMC Health Serv Res.* 2014;14:423.

31 Rising KL, Padrez KA, O'Brien M, et al. Return visits to the emergency department: the patient perspective. *Ann Emerg Med.* 2014;65(4):377-386.

32 Agrawal, V. Bringing Together Health Information Technology, Data, Policy, and Quality Measurement to Improve Outcomes. Panel Discussion at NQF Annual Conference; April 4-5, 2017.

33 Aunt Bertha. Connecting people and programs website. https://www.auntbertha.com/. Last accessed May 2017.

34 Community Information Exchange (CIE) San Diego website. http://ciesandiego.org/. Last accessed May 2017.

35 2-1-1 San Diego website. http://211sandiego.org/. Last accessed May 2017.

36 Hess EP, Hollander JE, Schaffer JT, et al. Shared decision making in patients with low risk chest pain: prospective randomized pragmatic trial. *BMJ*. 2016;355:i6165.

37 Selevan J, Kindermann D, Pines JM, et al. What accountable care organizations can learn from Kaiser Permanente California's acute care strategy. *Popul Health Manag.* 2015;18(4):233-236.

38 Pines JM, McStay F, George M, et al. Aligning payment reform and delivery innovation in emergency care. *Am J Manag Care*. 2016;22(8):515-518.

39 Suri P, Baugh C. Observation units as substitutes for hospitalization or home discharge. *Ann Emerg Med.* 2016;67(6):791-792.

APPENDIX A: Methodology

NQF conducted a three-step approach to the synthesis of evidence and environmental scan that included: (1) a collection of information sources; (2) the review of information sources (e.g., extraction of measures and measure concepts); and (3) key informant interviews. For this project, NQF defined measures and measure concepts as follows:

- A measure is a fully developed metric that includes detailed specifications and may have undergone scientific testing.
- A measure concept is an idea for a measure that includes a description of the measure, including planned target and population, but has not undergone testing.

Collection of Information Sources

NQF conducted a search for information sources such as measure repositories, literature, and programs used in ED transitions of care. NQF identified existing measures and searched through measure repositories such as the NQF Quality Positioning System, AHRQ's National Quality Measures Clearinghouse, AHRQ's Care Coordination Measures Database, National Guidelines Clearinghouse, American College of Emergency Physicians, Health Indicators Warehouse, CMS' measure inventory (e.g., Hospital Compare), The Joint Commission, and other previous NQF endorsement and framework projects. NQF staff also conducted the literature review portion of the environmental scan that included peer-reviewed research publications and grey literature. Databases for the literature review included PubMed, Google Scholar, and the Cochrane Collaboration. NQF staff conducted a targeted search within the literature databases using various combinations of keywords that derived from the domains and subdomains of the measurement framework (see Keywords subsection below).

Review of Information Sources

NQF staff conducted a literature review that met the inclusion and exclusion criteria outlined in Table 3.

TABLE A1. INCLUSION/EXCLUSION CRITERIA FOR LITERATURE REVIEW

Included	Excluded
Literature published after 2009	Published before 2009 and not current
• Pertains to the quality of transitions of care into and out of the emergency department	• Not available in English

Sources were sorted by relevance using the following criteria in Table A2.

TABLE A2. RELEVANCE CRITERIA FOR EVIDENCE, MEASURES, MEASURE CONCEPTS, AND INSTRUMENTS

Relevance Criteria	Definition
Directly Relevant	• The evidence, measures, measure concepts, and/or instruments that directly impact providers and patients by providing guidance on essential communication practices to support a quality transition.
Potentially Relevant	• The evidence, measures, measure concepts, and/or instruments that are directly relevant to the ED transitions but do not directly, specifically support ED transitions.
Indirectly Relevant	• The evidence, measures, measure concepts, and/or instruments that are related to a transition in care without a clear, specific link to the ED.

The complete list of measures and measure concepts are displayed in Appendix C. NQF staff searched literature databases using combinations of keywords as shown below.

Keywords

- Acute care
- Care coordination
- Caregiver
- Communication
- Community
- Chief complaint
- Critical care
- Discharge
- Discharge plan
- Electronic health record
- Emergency care
- Emergency department
- Emergency medical services
- Geriatric
- Elderly
- Hand off(s)
- Health information technology
- High risk populations
- Home health
- Hospital emergency service
- Interoperability
- Long term care
- Patient centered
- Patient-reported outcomes
- Pediatric
- Point of care
- Provider
- Primary care
- Referral
- Skilled nursing facility
- Specialty care
- Transfer(s)

- Transition(s)
- Transition of care
- Unscheduled care

NQF staff identified 47 relevant articles from the literature review, which are listed below:

- Agrawal S, Conway PH. Aligning emergency care with the triple aim: Opportunities and future directions after healthcare reform. *Healthcare*. 2014;2(3):2184-2189.
- Aldeen AZ, Courtney DM, Lindquist LA, et al. Geriatric emergency department innovations: preliminary data for the geriatric nurse liaison model. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 2014;62(9):621781-621785.
- Burke RE, Guo R, Prochazka AV, et al. Identifying keys to success in reducing readmissions using the ideal transitions in care framework. *BMC Health Serv Res.* 2014;14(1):423.
- Community Care of North Carolina (CCNC). CCNC Transitional Care Process. Raleigh, NC: CNCC; 2012. Available at https://www. communitycarenc.org/media/relateddownloads/transitional-care-process-andmodel.pdf. Last accessed March 2017.
- Desai AD, Burkhart Q, Parast L, et al. Development and pilot testing of caregiverreported pediatric quality measures for transitions between sites of care. *Acad Pediatr.* 2016;16(8):16760-16769.
- Dreyer, T. The Center for Healthcare Research & Transformation. *Care Transitions: Best Practices and Evidence-based Programs.* Ann Arbor, MI; 2014. Available at http://www. chrt.org/publication/care-transitions-bestpractices-evidence-based-programs/. Last accessed March 2017.
- Dusek B, Pearce N, Harripaul A, et al. Care transitions: a systematic review of best practices. *J Nurs Care Qual*. 2015;30(3):30233-30239.

- Dykes PC, Samal L, Donahue M, et al. A patient-centered longitudinal care plan: vision versus reality *J Am Med Inform Assoc*. 2014;21(6):211082-211090.
- Englander H, Michaels L, Chan B, et al. the care transitions innovation (C-Train) for socioeconomically disadvantaged adults: results of a cluster randomized controlled trial. *J Gen Intern Med*. 2014;29(11):291460-291467.
- Garber L. Making an IMPACT on Care Transitions in Central Massachusetts. January 16, 2013.
- Govindarajan P, Larkin GL, Rhodes KV, et al. Patient-centered integrated networks of emergency care: consensusbased recommendations and future research priorities. *Acad Emerg Med*. 2010;17(12):171322-171329.
- Griffey RT, Pines JM, Farley HL, et al. Chief complaint-based performance measures: a new focus for acute care quality measurement. *Ann Emerg Med.* 2015;65(4):65387-65395.
- American Academy of Pediatrics. Handoffs: transitions of care for children in the emergency department. *Pediatrics*. 2016;138(5).
- Hilligoss B, Vogus TJ. navigating care transitions: a process model of how doctors overcome organizational barriers and create awareness. *Med Care Res Rev*. 2015;72(1):7225-7248.
- Katz EB, Carrier ER, Umscheid CA, et al. Comparative effectiveness of care coordination interventions in the emergency department: a systematic review. *Ann Emerg Med.* 2012;60(1): 12-23.
- Kindermann DR, Mutter RL, Houchens RL, et al. Emergency department transfers and transfer relationships in united states hospitals. *Acad Emerg Med.* 2015;22(2):22157-22165.

- King BJ, Gilmore-Bykovskyi AL, Roiland RA, et al. The consequences of poor communication during transitions from hospital to skilled nursing facility: a qualitative study. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 2013;61(7):611095-611102.
- Kripalani S, Jackson AT, Schnipper JL, et al. Promoting effective transitions of care at hospital discharge: a review of key issues for hospitalists. *J Hosp Med*. 2007;2(5):2314-2323.
- Lee JI, Cutugno C, Pickering SP, et al. The patient care circle: a descriptive framework for understanding care transitions. *J Hosp Med*. 2013;8(11):8619-8626.
- Limpahan LP, Baier RR, Gravenstein S, et al. Closing the loop: best practices for crosssetting communication at ED discharge. *Am J Emerg Med.* 2013;31(9):311297-311301.
- Marcotte L, Kirtane J, Lynn J, et al. Integrating Health Information Technology to Achieve Seamless Care Transitions. *J Patient Saf.* 2015;11(4):11185-11190.
- Martinez R, Carr B. Creating integrated networks of emergency care: from vision to value. *Health Aff (Millwood)*. 2013;32(12):322082-322090.
- Mccarthy DM, Ellison EP, Venkatesh AK, et al. Emergency department team communication with the patient: the patient's perspective. *J Emerg Med*. 2013;45(2):45262-45270.
- Mcclelland M, Lazar D, Wolfe L, et al. Hospital culture of transitions in care: survey development. *J Nurs Care Qual*. 2015;30(4):E1-8.
- Medford-Davis L, Marcozzi D, Agrawal S, et al. Value-based approaches for emergency care in a new era. *Ann Emerg Med*. 2017;69(6):675-683.

- 26. Morganti KG, Bauhoff S, Blanchard JC, et al. The Evolving Role of Emergency Departments in the United States. Santa Monica, CA: RAND Corporation; 2013. Available at http://www. rand.org/content/dam/rand/pubs/research_ reports/RR200/RR280/RAND_RR280.pdf. Last accessed March 2017.
- National Quality Forum (NQF). Measurement Framework: Evaluating Efficiency Across Patient-Focused Episodes of Care. Washington, DC: NQF; 2010. Available at http://www.qualityforum. org/Publications/2010/01/Measurement_ Framework_Evaluating_Efficiency_Across_ Patient-Focused_Episodes_of_Care.aspx. Last accessed March 2017.
- National Transitions of Care Coalition (NTOCC) Measures Work Group. *Transitions* of Care Measures. 2008. Available at http:// www.ntocc.org/Portals/0/PDF/Resources/ TransitionsOfCare_Measures.pdf. Last accessed March 2017.
- 29. Naylor MD, Aiken LH, Kurtzman ET, et al. The care span: the importance of transitional care in achieving health reform. *Health Aff* (*Millwood*). 2011;30(4): 746-754.
- NQF. National Voluntary Consensus Standards for Emergency Care. Washington, DC: NQF; 2009. Available at http://www.qualityforum.org/ Publications/2009/09/National_Voluntary_ Consensus_Standards_for_Emergency_Care. aspx. Last Accessed March 2017.
- NQF. Priority Setting for Healthcare Performance Measurement: Addressing Performance Measure Gaps in Care Coordination. Washington, DC: NQF; 2014. Available at http://www.qualityforum. org/Publications/2014/08/Priority_Setting_ for_Healthcare_Performance_Measurement___ Addressing_Performance_Measure_Gaps_in__ Care_Coordination.aspx. Last accessed March 2017.

- 32. NQF. Quality in Home and Community-Based Services to Support Community Living: Addressing Gaps in Performance Measurement. Washington, DC: NQF; 2016. Available at http://www.qualityforum.org/ Publications/2016/09/Quality_in_Home_and_ Community-Based_Services_to_Support_ Community_Living__Addressing_Gaps_ in_Performance_Measurement.aspx. Last accessed March 2017.
- 33. NQF. Regionalized Emergency Medical Care Services: Emergency Department Crowding and Boarding, Healthcare System Preparedness and Surge Capacity - Performance Measurement Gap Analysis and Topic Prioritization.
 Washington, DC: NQF; 2012. Available at http:// www.qualityforum.org/Publications/2012/12/ REMCS_Emergency_Department_Crowding_ and_Boarding,_Healthcare_System_ Preparedness_and_Surge_Capacity.aspx. Last accessed March 2017.
- Pines JM, Lotrecchiano GR, Zocchi MS, et al. A conceptual model for episodes of acute, unscheduled care. *Ann Emerg Med*. 2016;68(4):484-491.
- 35. Radwin LE, Castonguay D, Keenan CB, et al. An expanded theoretical framework of care coordination across transitions in care settings. J Nurs Care Qual. 2016;31(3):269-274.
- Rising KL, Padrez KA, O'Brien M, et al. Return visits to the emergency department: the patient perspective. *Ann Emerg Med*. 2015;65(4):377-386.
- Romano, PS. The development of emergency department patient quality/safety indicators. PowerPoint presented at the AHRQ Annual Conference; September 27, 2010.
- Schuur JD, Baugh CW, Hess EP, et al. Critical pathways for post-emergency outpatient diagnosis and treatment: tools to improve the value of emergency care. *Acad Emerg Med*. 2011;18(6):e52-63.

- Shamji H, Baier RR, Gravenstein S, et al. Improving the quality of care and communication during patient transitions: best practices for urgent care centers. *Jt Comm J Qual Patient Saf*. 2014;40(7):40319-40324.
- 40. Shankar KN, Bhatia BK, Schuur JD. Toward patient-centered care: a systematic review of older adults' views of quality emergency care. *Ann Emerg Med.* 2014;63(5):529-550.
- Stiell A, Forster A, Stiell I, et al. Prevalence of information gaps in the emergency department and the effect on patient outcomes. *CMAJ*. 2003;10(5): 1023-1028.
- 42. Sugarman TJ. Time to focus on improving emergency department value rather than discouraging emergency department visits. *West J Emerg Med*. 2013;14(6):1417-1418.
- Venkatesh AK, Schuur JD. A "top five" list for emergency medicine: a policy and research agenda for stewardship to improve the value of emergency care. *Am J Emerg Med*. 2013;31(10):1520-1524.
- 44. Venkatesh K, Goodrich K. Emergency care and the National Quality Strategy: highlights from the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. *Ann Emerg Med.* 2015;65(4):396-399.
- 45. Washington State Health Care Authority. Emergency Department Utilization: Assumed Savings from Best Practices Implementation. Olympia, WA: Washington State Health Care Authority; 2013:1-6.
- 46. Yiadom MY, Ward MJ, Chang AM, et al. Consensus statement on advancing research in emergency department operations and its impact on patient care. *Acad Emerg Med*. 2015;22:757-764.
- Mattu A, Grossman S, Rosen P. *Geriatric Emergencies: A Discussion-Based Review*. Oxford, UK: Wiley-Blackwell; 2016.

Key Informant Interviews

The environmental scan also included interviewing key informants. NQF staff conducted the interviews to supplement the information and data provided by the Panel, the literature review, and the measure review. Information from the interviews provided additional expert insight on measure gaps as well as emerging measures. The interviews were conducted by using an interview guide with a standard set of questions related to ED quality of transitions of care. Key informants had familiarity with and experience in transitions of care, transition practices that improve provider knowledge of patients, and the improvement of patient outcomes due to higher quality transition. The list of key informants and the interview guide are in Table A3.
TABLE A3. LIST OF KEY INFORMANTS

Informant	Relevant Experience	Organization	
Maria Brenny-Fitzpatrick, MSN, CNS, FNP-C, GNP-BC, APNP	Director of transitional care with experience in transition practices and care coordination through the use of standardized transition forms	University of Wisconsin Health System	
Daniel Ebbett	Familiarity with emergency medical services technology and key elements needed for a quality transition of care into and out of the ED	MedStar	
Carmen Gonzalez, MD	Experience with the use of a standardized handoff protocol into and out of the ED	The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center	
Terrence O'Malley, MD	Expertise and knowledge on care coordination and transitions particularly from long-term, post- acute care to the ED as well as interoperability	Massachusetts General Hospital	
Marjory Palladino, MSN, CRRN	Nursing director with experience in the transfer of health information from Skilled Nursing Facilities to the ED	Hartford Healthcare Senior Services-Southington Care Center	

Key Informant Interview Guide: General Questions

- 1. What is your experience with measurement of transitions in care?
 - a. If not formal measurement, are there standards or internal guidelines you use to support quality transitions?
 - b. Best practices?
- 2. What do you see as the most important transitions in care that apply to the ED?
 - a. From interviewee's perspective, and other?
- 3. How are ED transitions different from other types of transitions in care?
 - a. If you don't have experience with other types of transitions, how do you think they might be different?
- 4. What are the highest risk ED transitions/ patients?
 - a. Can you think where care could be improved?
 - b. Are there other transitions (high-risk or otherwise) that you can think of that warrant improvement?

- 5. What do you think are the best ways to measure the quality of ED transitions in care?
 - a. What are the best outcomes of a transition?
 - b. What do you think is the top priority when it comes to measuring ED transitions in care?
- 6. What are the best data sources for those measures?
 - a. Or, how might you measure?
- 7. Are you aware of any best practices for ED transitions in care?
 - a. In your organization, or elsewhere?
- 8. What are the most relevant pieces of information you need during a transition?
 - a. Most relevant for the provider(s)?
 - b. For the patient or caregiver?
- 9. How should transition information be shared with the patient?
 - a. Are there considerations depending on the type of patient?

APPENDIX B: Expert Panel Roster and NQF Staff

Expert Panel Co-Chairs

Stephen Cantrill, MD, FACEP

Physician, Denver Health Medical Center, University of Colorado School of Medicine Denver, Colorado

Janet Niles, RN, MS, CCM

President, Niles Associates, Inc. New Orleans, Louisiana

Expert Panel

Billie Bell, RN

Vice President of Operations, Medina Healthcare System Hondo, Texas

Donna Carden, MD

Professor-Emergency Medicine, University of Florida Gainesville, Florida

Lisa Deal, PharmD, BCPS, BSN, RN

Clinical Emergency Medicine Pharmacy Specialist, Beebe Medical Center Lewes, Delaware

James Dunford, MD, FACEP

Professor Emeritus (Emergency Medicine) UCSD; City of San Diego EMS Medical Director, San Diego Fire-Rescue San Diego, California

Tricia Elliott, MBA, CPHQ

Director, Quality Measurement, The Joint Commission Oakbrook Terrace, Illinois

Susan (Nikki) Hastings, MD, MHS

Physician and Investigator, Veteran's Administration (Durham) and Duke University Durham, North Carolina

Joseph Karan

Director of Advocacy and Education, National Kidney Foundation of Florida Land O Lakes, Florida

Julie Massey, MD, MBA Medical Director, Clinical Quality Improvement, UHS, Inc. King of Prussia, Pennsylvania

Aleesa Mobley, PhD, RN, APN Adjunct Faculty, Rowan University Willamstown, New Jersey

Elif Oker, MD

Medical Director, Clinical Strategy and Innovation, Health Care Service Corporation Chicago, Illinois

Andrea Pearson, MD

Pediatric Attending, Howard County General Hospital, Johns Hopkins EMS Columbia, Maryland

Marc Price, DO

Physician Owner, Clinical Assistant Professor, Family Medicine of Malta Mechanicville, New York

Karin Rhodes, MD, MS

Vice President for Care Management Design & Evaluation, Office of Population Health Management, Hofstra Northwell School of Medicine Northwell Health Manhasset, New York

Kristin Rising, MD, MS

Assistant Professor and Director of Acute Care Transitions, Thomas Jefferson University Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

Brenda Schmitthenner, MPA

Senior Director, Successful Aging West Health Institute

La Jolla, California

Amy Starmer, MD, MPH

Director of Primary Care Quality Improvement, Associate Medical Director of Quality, Department of Medicine, Boston Children's Hospital/Harvard Medical School Boston, Massachusetts

Adam Swanson, MPP

Senior Prevention Specialist, Suicide Prevention Resource Center Washington, District of Columbia

Arjun Venkatesh, MD, MBA, MHS

Assistant Professor, Department of Emergency Medicine; Director, ED Quality and Safety Research and Strategy; Co-Director, Emergency Medicine Administration Fellowship; Scientist, Center for Outcomes Research & Evaluation; Yale University School of Medicine New Haven, Connecticut

Sam West

Business Intelligence Developer, Epic Verona, Wisconsin

Margaret Weston, MSN, RN, CPHQ

Health Care Quality Solutions Director, Western Region, Johnson and Johnson Health Systems Titusville, New Jersey

Christine Wilhelm, MBA Chief Operating Officer, Munson Healthcare Charlevoix Hospital Charlevoix, Michigan

Stephanie Witwer, PhD, RN, NEA-BC

Nurse Administrator – Primary Care Division, Mayo Clinic Rochester, Minnesota

NQF Staff

Elisa Munthali, MPH Acting Senior Vice President, Quality Measurement Kyle Cobb, MS

Senior Director

Kirsten Reed Project Manager

Vanessa Moy, MPH Project Analyst

Jesse Pines, MD, MBA, MSCE Consultant

Marcia Wilson, PhD, MBA Consultant

APPENDIX C: Measure Compendium

The measure compendium is a list of measures and measure concepts, which the Panel has deemed relevant. They address the quality of transitions of care into and out of the emergency department.

Domain: Provider Information Exchange

SUBDOMAIN: KEY INFORMATION ELEMENTS AND PROPERTIES OF TRANSMISSION

#	Existing Measure or Concept	Title/Description	
1	Concept	Medication reconciliation collaboratively performed in the ED and/or with the primary care physician (or relevant specialist) for high-risk prescribing in the ED	
2	Concept	The percentage of high-risk discharges from the ED where specific information elements are transferred to the primary care physician (and/or responsible specialist) by the next clinic day	
3	Concept	The percentage of high-risk transitions to the ED where specific information elements are transferred to the ED in a timely fashion from the referring facility or provider	
4	Concept	The proportion of EMS transports where a transition of care document and verbal report are provided to the ED at ED arrival	

Domain: Provider Information Exchange

SUBDOMAIN: CARE COORDINATION AND FEEDBACK

#	Existing Measure or Concept	Title/Description		
5	Existing Measure	Emergency Transfer Communication Measure: Percentage of patients transferred to another healthcare facility whose medical record documentation indicated that required information was communicated to the receiving facility prior to departure or within 60 minutes of transfer (NQF #0291):		
		1. Required information is communicated to the receiving facility prior to departure		
		2. Entire vital signs record is communicated		
		3. Medication information is communicated		
		4. Patient information is communicated		
		5. Physicians information is communicated		
		6. Nursing information is communicated		
		7. Procedures and test information is communicated		
6	Concept	*The proportion of patients managed by primary care physicians (or responsible specialist) who are frequent users of EDs (>=4 visits in a 12-month period) who have, (jointly when possible) created a care plan in collaboration with their primary care physician and ED (physician, nurse, PA, navigator, etc.)		
7	Concept	A structural measure as to whether hospitals provide data to and facilitate a portal for providers to be able to view ED visits and other care delivered in outside hospitals and health systems		
8	Concept	The proportion of EDs that have a system in place to provide feedback within referring providers for specific cases that may be useful for quality improvement		

Domain: Patient, Family, and Caregiver Information Exchange

SUBDOMAIN: KEY INFORMATION ELEMENTS AND PROPERTIES OF TRANSMISSION

#	Existing Measure or Concept	Title/Description		
9	Existing Measure	Transition Record with Specified Elements Received by Discharged Patients (Emergency Department Discharges to Ambulatory Care [Home/Self Care] or Home Health Care): Patients or their caregiver(s) who received a transition record at the time of emergency department (ED) discharge including, at a minimum, all of the following elements (NQF Measure #0649):		
		1. Summary of major procedures and tests performed during ED visit, AND		
		2. Principal clinical diagnosis at discharge which may include the presenting chief complaint, AND		
		3. Patient instructions, AND		
		4. Plan for follow-up care (OR statement that none required), including primary physician, other health care professional, or site designated for follow-up care, AND		
		5. List of new medications and changes to continued medications that patient should take after ED discharge, with quantity prescribed and/or dispensed (OR intended duration) and instructions for each		
10	Existing Measure	Patient Specific Education Resources from Certified Electronic Health Record Technology (CEHRT) provided to Patient		
11	Existing Measure	Patient Electronic Access to Their Health Information (view, download, and transmit)		
12	Concept	Documentation of the percentage of all patients/family/caregivers who are provided an ED-based telephone number (staffed 24/7) that they may use to clarify discharge instructions, medication questions, or follow up post-discharge from the ED		

Domain: Patient, Family, and Caregiver Information Exchange

SUBDOMAIN: EFFECTIVE COMMUNICATION AND SHARED DECISION MAKING

#	Existing Measure or Concept	Title/Description		
13	Concept	ED documentation of provider (physician, nurse, pharmacist, care manager) and patient/ family/caregiver discussion, that takes into account patient-reported preferences, that includes condition, medications, other treatments, post-discharge plans, and follow-up		
14	Concept	Percentage of patients of any age who report they do not have a designated primary care physician, who have received a primary care appointment or community-based clinic appointment for follow-up post-ED discharge		
15	Concept	Percentage of patient/family/caregiver who received appropriate discharge instructions that are in patients' preferred language, at their literacy level, and take into account patients' social economic status		
16	Concept	Percentage of patients of any age who are nonverbal and have been seen in the emergency room, who have documentation by a provider or other care team member of a designated healthcare point of contact for treatment planning that has been shared with available family or caregivers		
17	Concept	*Shared decision making process: The proportion of patients managed by a primary care physicians (or responsible specialist) who are frequent users of EDs (>=4 visits in a 12-month period) who have, (jointly when possible) created a care plan in collaboration with their primary care physician and ED (physician, nurse, PA, navigator, etc.)		

Domain: Engagement of the Broader Community

SUBDOMAIN: CONNECTION AND ALIGNMENT

	Existing Measure or Concept	Title/Description	
18	Concept	Availability of care managers/coordinators/navigators in the ED	
19	Concept	Assessing high-risk patients who are at risk for a transition failure due to unmet social needs	
20	Concept	System that allows for bidirectional communication between clinical and nonclinical facilities	

Domain: Engagement of the Broader Community

SUBDOMAIN: ACCESSIBILITY OF SERVICES

#	Existing Measure or Concept	Title/Description	
21	Concept	Collect and maintain information on available resources (to include social, community, and any other available resource that may support a transition of care)	

Domain: Achievement of Outcomes

SUBDOMAIN: HEALTHCARE UTILIZATION & COSTS

#	Existing Measure or Concept	Title/Description
22	Concept	Reduction in duplicate testing based on payer-level data or facility-level data, depending on where testing is provided
23	Concept	Improved transitions for patients who are frequent users of the ED

Domain: Achievement of Outcomes

SUBDOMAIN: PROVIDER EXPERIENCE

#	Existing Measure or Concept	Title/Description	
24	Concept	Provider experience with select aspects of transitions (e.g., information received)	

Domain: Achievement of Outcomes

PATIENT/FAMILY/CAREGIVER EXPERIENCE

#	Existing Measure or Concept	Title/Description	
25	Existing Measure	3-Item Care Transition Measure (Coleman)	
26	Concept	Patient-reported experience with care specific to culturally competent care delivery that takes into consideration patients' preferences, needs, and values. Concept is based on CAHPS 3.0 and CAHPS American Indian Survey composite assessment: Getting Care Quickly; Getting Needed Care; Provider Communication; Clerks and Receptionists at Clinic; Health Education; Perceived Discrimination; Global Ratings	

SUBDOMAIN: FOLLOW-UP AND SAFETY OUTCOMES

#	Existing Measure or Concept	Title/Description
27	Existing Measure	Patients with a transient ischemic event ER visit that had a follow-up office visit (NQF #0644)
28	Concept	Follow-up occurred after patient leaves the ED (e.g., visit or phone call)
29	Concept	The percentage of high-risk ED discharges (as designated by the ED provider) where there is contact (in-person follow-up or other) within a specified period of time by the primary care physician or responsible specialist
30	Concept	Reduction in adverse drug events through a combination of medication review, medication reconciliation, and the patient's understanding of medications
31	Concept	Unscheduled return visits to the ED within 9 days or 30 days

* Denotes same measure concept but crosscutting to other domains. For instance, the measure concept could be categorized in both Provider Information Exchange and Patient, Family, And Caregiver Information Exchange.

APPENDIX D: Transitions of Care—Innovative and Leading Practices and Programs

The list of innovative and leading practices and programs in this appendix is not, in any way, an exhaustive or comprehensive list. The programs cited on this list were identified, collected, and referenced over the course of this project through the literature review, expert panel discussions, and key informant interviews. Some of the programs have widespread adoption across the nation, and others are examples of early innovations that include novel methods for improving the quality of transitions of care.

Care Coordination

- Admission, Discharge, and Transfer (ADT)
 Alerting System
- Coleman Model (Eric Coleman)
- Coordinated Access to Care from the Hospital Emergency Departments CATCH-ED (University of Toronto)
- Chronic Care Coordination Program (Kaiser Permanente)
- Extended Care and the Coordination Network (Summa Health)
- Rapid Evaluation and Treatment Unit (Mount Sinai Health System)
- STate Action on Avoidable Rehospitalizations (STAAR) (Institute for Healthcare Improvement)
- Ticket to Ride Program (University of Pittsburgh Medical Center)
- WellTransitions Program (Walgreens)
- Blue Transfer Envelope Process (University of Wisconsin Hospital and Clinics)

Community Resources and Engagement

- 2-1-1 San Diego (California)
- Aunt Bertha Connecting People and Programs
- Bridges to Care (Colorado)
- Kentucky Care Coordination for Community Transitions (KC(3)T)
- Community Information Exchange (CIE) San Diego (California)

EMS Care

- Mobile Health Paramedic Program (Geisinger Health System)
- Mobile Integrated Healthcare- Community Paramedicine (MIH-CP) model

Geriatric Care

- GERI-VET Home Visits (Cleveland Department of Veterans Affairs)
- Hospital at Home (Johns Hopkins Schools of Medicine and Public Health)
- Transitional Care Model (University of Pennsylvania)
- Geriatric Emergency Department Innovations in Care through Workforce, Informatics, and Structural Enhancements (GEDI WISE) Program (Mount Sinai Medical Center)

High-Risk Individuals

 Coordinated-Transitional Care (C-TraC) Program (William S. Middleton Memorial Veterans Hospital; University of Wisconsin-Madison School of Medicine and Public Health)

- Community-based Care Transitions Program (CCTP) (Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services)
- Individualized Management for Patient-Centered Target (IMPaCT) Program (University of Pennsylvania Health System)
- Interventions to Reduce Acute Care Transfers (INTERACT) (Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services)
- ED Patient Aligned Care Team (ED-PACT) Communications Tool (Department of Veterans Affairs of Greater Los Angeles Healthcare System)

Post-Discharge Care

- Hospital Patient Safe-D(ischarge) (Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality)
- Project Better Outcomes by Optimizing Safe Transitions (BOOST) (Society of Hospital Medicine)
- Project Re-Engineered Hospital Discharge (RED) (Boston University Medical Center)
- Bridge Model (Illinois Transitional Care Consortium)
- Pharmacist Advancement of Transitions of Care to Home (PATCH) Service

Telemedicine

- Command Center and Provider-in-Triage
 (Aurora Health Care)
- LiveHealth Online (Health Management Corporation)

APPENDIX E: Measure Prioritization

The measure prioritization is a list of measures and measure concepts that were submitted to the Panel to be ranked based on importance and feasibility. Importance was rated on a scale of one through five (1 as low, 3 as moderate, and 5 as high). Feasibility was rated on a scale of one through five (1 as not feasible, 3 as aspirational/potentially feasible in the future, and 5 as very feasible today).

Domain: Provider Information Exchange

SUBDOMAIN: KEY INFORMATION ELEMENTS AND PROPERTIES OF TRANSMISSION

ID	Proposed Measures & Concepts	Importance Score	Feasibility Score	Timing	Comments from the Panel
1	[concept] Medication reconciliation collaboratively performed in the ED and/or with the primary care physician (or relevant specialist) for high-risk prescribing in the ED	4.36	3.27	Mid-Term	 This is an important measure concept to ensure medication management is clarified with multiple providers prescribing medications. This measure may potentially reduce error and improve patient safety in ED care transitions. Challenges: Time constraints and communication barriers may present implementation challenges in ED settings. Medication reconciliation is typically harder to do in the ED setting. Feasibility for this measure suffers when patients do not have a primary care provider and/or their provider is not engaged with regional health information exchanges. Opportunities: Easier to measure when the medication list is shared in a
2	[concept] The percentage of high-risk discharges from the ED where specific information elements are transferred to the primary care physician (and/or responsible specialist) by the next clinic day	4.36	3.55	Mid-Term	single EHR. This measure contributes to effective care coordination and is proactive with communication between the ED and primary care providers. Engaging the primary care providers in helping to manage ED transitions is critical, and to be effective they need to have this information. It is also important to have the necessary information by the follow-up, or by the next day. Challenges: • Often a wide range of information systems used by
					 different PCPs. This measure depends on the patient having an established PCP and HIE/EHR capability. Timing may not be possible in all situations—this may not be correct timeframe. Correctly identifying PCP may be a challenge. Opportunities: Critical for patient safety and appropriate care and follow-up (reduce readmissions and overall cost of care). Include additional resources to ensure that this is occurring consistently.

ID	Proposed Measures & Concepts	Importance Score	Feasibility Score	Timing	Comments from the Panel
3	[concept] The percentage of high risk transitions to the ED where specific information elements are transferred to the ED in a timely fashion from the referring facility or provider	4.36	3.55	Mid-Term	 This measure concept is critical to the high-risk patient emergent care, and requires care facilities and EDs to work together to establish a standardized process in their community for transmitting important patient information. Challenges: Many communities have struggled with reaching consensus on standard information elements. Primary care providers use a wide range of systems, which may present interoperability challenges. Ease of information capture may be a challenge and relies on availability of information in the EHR. Opportunities In cases where this is a common EHR, or in facility to facility transitions, the information is more likely to be available at the time of transition. This is possible today and accomplished in many settings even if it is a phone call. It can be documented easily in the record and measured, assuming there is a PCP to whom to transfer information.
4	[concept] The proportion of EMS transports where a transition of care document and verbal report is provided to the ED at ED arrival	4.64	4.36	Today	 This concept is critical for care coordination and bridges the communication gap between EMS personnel and ED staff. The concept addresses a wide range of problems in the EMS/ED information exchange, such as EMS written reports arriving days after a transition of care with clinically significant information that was not verbally conveyed. Challenges: Part of current practice, but not done in a consistent manner. Many EMS systems are too busy to allocate the time needed to both clear the ambulance, document the last call, and prepare for the next transport. Opportunities: Next Gen EMS EHR may stream data to receiving ED in real time and provide means to capture PCR permanently—so-called Send-Alert-File-Reconcile (SAFR) technology. States like California already require that all EMSPCR be electronically filed using the National EMS Information System (NEMSIS) v3.4 or greater. EMS can provide valuable information to the ED about what they observed in the home. This is being done in most settings verbally. These documents can be scanned into the patient's medical record, or a template form can be generated in the ED that allows for a joint sign-off of the patient between EMS and ED provider.

Domain: Provider Information Exchange

SUBDOMAIN: CARE COORDINATION AND FEEDBACK

ID	Proposed Measures & Concepts	Importance Score	Feasibility Score	Timing	Comments from the Panel
5	*[concept] The proportion of patients managed by primary care physicians (or	3.55	2.36	Future/ Aspirational	A jointly created care plan is important to ensure understanding of what needs to be done after or at each visit.
	responsible specialist)				Challenges:
	who are frequent users of EDs (>=4 visits in a 12-month period) who				 It is currently an aspirational measure concept that relies on HIE and care coordination reimbursable services.
	have (jointly when possible) created a care				 Not clear where the care plan would be captured and stored.
	plan in collaboration with their primary care physician and the ED				 In cases where EDs are used as urgent care clinics, multiple ED visits may not reflect poor care coordination.
	(physician, nurse, PA,				Opportunities:
	navigator, etc.)				 Important in the quality and functionality of the patient, reduction in cost of care, and potentially readmission rates.
					• There are existing health IT platforms that support this type of coordination such as Emergency Department Information Exchange (EDIE).
6	[concept] A structural measure as to whether	4.18	3.45	Mid-Term	This measure concept promotes information exchange and facilitates convenient and streamlined care.
	hospitals provide data to and facilitate a portal				Challenges:
	for providers to be able to view ED visits and				 Lack of uptake and availability of HIE resources may be a barrier to developing and implementing such a measure.
	other care delivered in outside hospitals and health systems				 Many hospital infrastructures that lack resources will have a difficult time adhering to this measure.
	-				• Available in some systems, but we have a ways to go.
					Opportunities:
					• This measure can build on meaningful use requirements of electronic portal access and transfer of information.
					• As an interim measure, it could encourage organizations to further adopt these supportive technologies.
					 This is available and working today in some health systems and is easy to measure.

	Proposed Measures	Importance	Feasibility	Timing	Comments from the Panel
	& Concepts	Score	Score		
7	[concept] The proportion of EDs that have a system in place to provide	3.45	3.36	Mid-Term	Providers benefit from constructive feedback. It is important to learn from specific cases for quality improvement.
	feedback within				Challenges:
	referring providers for specific cases that may be useful for quality				• May be difficult to measure when providers are not in the same location.
	improvement				 Incentives may be necessary to promote the use of such a system; otherwise it is likely to be rarely used.
					Opportunities:
					• Can improve care coordination between providers and provides a forum to improve through a review of quality issues and/or concerns.
					• Similar to existing hospital morbidity and mortality (M&M) conferences.
					 California is introducing EMS-HIE bidirectional exchange that will allow paramedics to confidentially learn patient outcome for clinical quality improvement purposes.
8	[measure] Emergency Transfer Communication Measure: Percentage of patients transferred to another healthcare facility whose medical record documentation indicated that required information was communicated to the receiving facility prior to departure or within 60 minutes of transfer (NQF #0291): 1. Required information is communicated to the receiving facility prior to departure 2. Entire vital signs record is communicated 3. Medication information is	4.50	3.57	Mid-Term	 Direct lines of communication between providers is critical in acute hospital to acute hospital transfers. This measure supports continuity of care and avoidance of duplicate testing. Challenges: The information elements required in this measure can be difficult to pull together in emergent situations and therefore may not be available 60 minutes prior to transfer. A lot can happen in an hour, and information should be presented with the patient regardless of where the patient came from. Opportunities: Highly feasible measure to implement as this information is currently retrievable via EHR.
	4. Patient information is communicated				
	5. Physicians information is communicated				
	6. Nursing information is communicated				
	7. Procedures and test information is communicated				

Domain: Patient, Family, and Caregiver Information Exchange

SUBDOMAIN: KEY INFORMATION ELEMENTS AND PROPERTIES OF TRANSMISSION

ID	Proposed Measures & Concepts	Importance Score	Feasibility Score	Timing	Comments from the Panel
9	[measure] Transition Record with Specified Elements Received by Discharged Patients (Emergency Department Discharges to Ambulatory Care [Home/Self Care] or Home Health Care): Patients or their caregiver(s) who received a transition record at the time of emergency department (ED) discharge including, at a minimum, all of the following elements (NQF #0649): 1. Summary of major procedures and tests performed during ED visit, AND	4.50	4.14	Today	 Clear, concise culturally appropriate discharge instructions are foundational to quality care transitions. A primary reason for readmission can be attributed to a patient's lack of understanding of post-discharge instructions. This measure is important, highly feasible, and resources should be available in EDs to support a successful implementation. Challenges: Many EDs do this today, as the summary of care document is a meaningful use requirement. However, for some EDs it may be hard to collect all of the required elements. Opportunities: Feasible - all of the information is available in the EHR. This measure could be enhanced to include a provider discussion with patients to ensure that they comprehend the instructions, AND a completeness of information check at time of delivery, AND the transition record should also be sent to the patient's primary care provider.
	2. Principal clinical diagnosis at discharge which may include the presenting chief complaint, AND				
	3. Patient instructions, AND				
	4. Plan for follow- up care (OR statement that none required), including primary physician, other healthcare professional, or site designated for follow-up care, AND				
	5. List of new medications and changes to continued medications that patient should take after ED discharge, with quantity prescribed and/ or dispensed (OR intended duration) and instructions for each				

ID	Proposed Measures & Concepts	Importance Score	Feasibility Score	Timing	Comments from the Panel
10		3.64	4.07	Today	Providing high-quality educational materials to patients and caregivers can expand their ability to manage their conditions. However, it is important to consider that healthcare literacy varies, particularly among those who are most vulnerable. Challenges:
					• EHR educational resource templates are not always relevant to the patients' medical condition, and may need to be augmented with additional information from internet-based resources (e.g., WebMD).
					• Discharge paperwork provided to a patient transitioning home can be overwhelming and as a result, be ignored.
					Opportunities:
					• The measure is highly feasible to implement, as there are many electronic and paper-based educational resources available.
					• Consider customizing educational resources to the patient with a focus on materials that are easy to understand and instructions that are easy to follow (laid out step by step) in a language and educational level that is appropriate to the patient.
11	[measure] Patient Electronic Access to Their Health Information (view, download, and	4.14	3.79	Mid-Term	A requirement of Meaningful Use supports patients' electronic access to their own healthcare record. Patient access to information is a critical step in engaging patients in the management of their care.
	transmit)				Challenges:
					• While this measure is feasible for single ED visits, it becomes challenging to measure when patients visit multiple facilities that are not connected with interoperable EHRs.
					• Patient access to online information is variable, not all patients will have the ability to access their health information online.
					Opportunity:
					• This measure has been widely adopted through the meaningful use program; however, the next step for this measure is to engage and support patients in logging in to an online portal to see their information or to provide it to the next healthcare provider.
12	Documentation of the percentage of	4.36	3.91	Today	EDs typically do not manage patient care outside of actual visits. This type of resource would be useful for patients who have transitioned out of the ED to ask questions post-visit.
	all patients/family/ caregivers who are				Challenges:
	provided an ED based telephone number that is staffed 24/7, which they may use to clarify				 Feasibility may be limited by hospital resources and policies (e.g., willingness to have ED provide informational support post-discharge).
	discharge instructions,				• Requires additional funding and resources to put in place.
	medication questions, or follow up post-				Opportunities:
	discharge from the ED				Could be easily implemented in discharge instructions.
					• This model has been tested in some health systems with very favorable outcomes.

Domain: Patient, Family, and Caregiver Information Exchange

SUBDOMAIN: EFFECTIVE COMMUNICATION AND SHARED DECISION MAKING

ID	Proposed Measures & Concepts	Importance Score	Feasibility Score	Timing	Comments from the Panel
13	[concept] ED documentation of provider (physician, nurse, pharmacist, care manager) and patient/ family/caregiver discussion, that takes into account patient- reported preferences, that includes condition, medications, other treatments, post- discharge plans, and follow-up	4.18	3.45	Mid-Term	 Patients tend to experience better outcomes after engaging in shared decision making. Including patients in discussions about their care and follow-up improves the potential for adherence to treatment plans and reduction in errors. This measure can be measured via EHR data today through auditing documentation in the medical record. Challenges: For many simple cases, "patient preferences" may be a moot or potentially burdensome requirement for data gathering. Low feasibility to collect patient preferences. Clinicians will shrink from more documentation attesting to the fact that they "talked" to their patients. They will consider this to be check-box CQI compliance and not meaningful. Opportunity: General agreement to the advantages of patient engagement and shared decision making in care. This has been done successfully in a number of health systems.
14	[concept] Percentage of patients of any age who report they do not have a designated primary care physician, who have received a primary care appointment or community-based clinic appointment for follow- up post-ED discharge	4.36	3.36	Mid-Term	 PCP or community-based clinic follow-up appointments are an important component of a quality ED transition of care. Challenges: Some organizations or locations do not have the resources to make this possible. Locating a PCP that will accept unfunded or Medicaid patients is difficult. There are often long waiting lists for community clinic appointments. Delivery of ED discharge information to PCP or clinic depends on fidelity of regional HIE. Opportunity: Could be done with health IT resources and agreements between EDs and primary care providers and/or community clinics.
15	[concept] Percentage of patient/family/ caregiver who received appropriate discharge instructions that are in patients' preferred language, at their literacy level, and take into account patients' social economic status	4.55	3.73	Mid-Term	 It is difficult to activate patients to manage their health when they do not understand what they are supposed to do. Challenges: In some diverse communities, providing information in a patient's preferred language may be difficult to support. Opportunity: EHRs include a series of patient demographic fields that typically include a "preferred language" field which may be used to determine if "appropriate" instructions are provided. There are however additional social determinants data that have been used to effectively identify literacy levels and social economic status that could also be used in this metric.

ID	Proposed Measures & Concepts	Importance Score	Feasibility Score	Timing	Comments from the Panel
16	[concept] Percentage of patients of any age who are nonverbal and have been seen in the emergency room, who have documentation by a provider or other care team member of a designated healthcare point of contact for treatment planning that has been shared with available family or caregivers	3.91	3.91	Mid-Term	 This metric supports the transitions for patients who are unable to advocate for themselves. Challenges: This is very important but perhaps less feasible, particularly with care transitions from long-term care facilities where many patients do not have family or a healthcare proxy. Opportunity: This metric could also be stratified to include the percentage of ED patients who have a designated healthcare point of contact documented, with a subset of that population who is identified as "nonverbal" in the EHR.
17	*[concept] Shared decision making process: The proportion of patients managed by a primary care physician (or responsible specialist) who are frequent users of EDs (>=4 visits in a 12-month period) who have (jointly when possible) created a care plan in collaboration with their primary care physician and ED (physician, nurse, PA, navigator, etc.)	3.55	2.36	Future/ Aspirational	 A jointly created care plan is important to ensure understanding of what needs to be done after or at each visit. Challenges: It is currently an aspirational measure concept that relies on HIE and reimbursable care coordination services. Not clear where the care plan would be captured and stored. In cases where EDs are used as urgent care clinics, multiple ED visits may not reflect poor care coordination. Opportunities: Important in the quality and functionality of the patient, reduction in cost of care, and potentially readmission rates. There are existing health IT platforms that support this type of coordination such as Emergency Department Information Exchange (EDIE).

Domain: Engagement of the Broader Community

SUBDOMAIN: CONNECTION AND ALIGNMENT

ID	Proposed Measures & Concepts	Importance Score	Feasibility Score	Timing	Comments from the Panel
18	[concept] Availability of care managers/ coordinators/ navigators in the ED	4.55	3.64	Mid-Term	The navigator role may support the patients at highest risk of a failure in transition. Facilities may not always have the resources necessary to invest; however, there are creative examples of organizations who have brought this expertise to the ED through various resource channels.
					Challenges:
					• Based on availability of resources, including the budget and size of the ED.
					• Many EDs may not be able to invest in these positions if they are not billable.
					Opportunities:
					• Measuring this concept could be a simple yes/no question or a documentation of the percentage of time.
					• There is evidence that the role of care manager/ coordinator/navigator positively affects the quality of care and coordination of care.
					 If a standard measure was developed for this concept, organizations might be more likely to build a case for the added resource, and the metric could be a game changer.
19	[concept] Assessing high-risk patients who are at risk for a transition failure due to unmet social needs	4.27	3.18	Mid-Term	Unmet social needs are a major driver of ED revisits. There are many simple screening tools that can be used on intake to assess needs. Once assessed, patients can be linked to available community resources that will reduce their risk for another ED visit.
					Challenges:
					• Low feasibility due to unavailability and difficulty of capturing data. This is a growing area of research, but it may still be difficult to measure "unmet social needs."
					 It is unclear what the return on investment would be if this were implemented.
					 The lack of social services available in rural communities poses significant challenges for movement of this measure.
					Opportunities:
					• In this growing area of research, there is a genuine need for a standardized social determinants of health screening tool.
					• These types of assessments may also help in managing population needs for a community, but only if it is evaluated through standard measurement.

ID	Proposed Measures & Concepts	Importance Score	Feasibility Score	Timing	Comments from the Panel
20	[concept] System that allows for bidirectional communication between clinical and nonclinical facilities	4.00	2.00	Future/ Aspirational	It is essential that social factors impeding care plans be shared across all clinical and community-based providers so that the care plan and services are modified to respond to changes in the patient's risk.
					 Challenges: Health IT infrastructure is essential for effective bidirectional communication. In communities without these resources, it is difficult, if not nearly impossible, to put a system in place that supports this type of communication.
					Opportunities:
					 There is growing interest in connecting community and clinical supports, and this model has been successfully implemented.

Domain: Engagement of the Broader Community

SUBDOMAIN: ACCESSIBILITY OF SERVICES

ID	Proposed Measures & Concepts	Importance Score	Feasibility Score	Timing	Comments from the Panel
21	[concept] Collect and maintain information on available resources (to include social, community and any other available resource that may support a transition of care)	4.45	4.09	Today	 Most communities have a service directory for community resources that is either published or accessible online. Effectively referring patients to community resources may improve their healthcare outcomes and decrease revisits to the ED. Challenges: Maintaining an up-to-date community resource list may be difficult for some organizations. Opportunity: Both the Office of the National Coordinator for Health IT and the National Academies have recommended the approach measured by this concept.

SUBDOMAIN: HEALTHCARE UTILIZATION AND COSTS

ID	Proposed Measures & Concepts	Importance Score	Feasibility Score	Timing	Comments from the Panel
22	[concept] Reduction in duplicate testing on payer-level data or facility-level data, depending on where testing is provided	4.27	3.00	Future/ Aspirational	Reduction in testing may be achieved by increased communication. However, there are cases where duplicate testing is necessary; in these cases clinical judgement is required, suggesting that this may not be a fully automated process.
					Challenges:
					 Low feasibility due to challenges in gathering testing information from disparate systems.
					• Dependent on health information exchange resources.
					Opportunities:
					• Payers collect and maintain data about their clients, which until now have not been easily accessible to frontline providers and support personnel. This type of metric may encourage EDs to use payers as resources to avoid duplicate testing.
					• Providing providers with access to data/diagnostics may be likely to reduce resource utilization and improve timeliness of care.
23	[concept] Improved transitions for patients who are frequent users of the ED	4.18	2.91	Future/ Aspirational	It is important to focus efforts and resources on patients with the highest resource use and to design care plans that support transitions. There are many examples of successful ED frequent user programs.
					Challenges:
					 In cases where patients require alternative, nonhealthcare-related resources, this may limit the feasibility of this metric.
					• State-by-state legislative reform needs data to prove the return on investment is achievable through better care coordination.
					Opportunities:
					 Lessons can be learned from inpatient care transition programs that have significantly reduced readmissions.
					 This type of metric provides an opportunity to develop the evidence base and track outcomes of various interventions.

SUBDOMAIN: PROVIDER EXPERIENCE

ID	Proposed Measures & Concepts	Importance Score	Feasibility Score	Timing	Comments from the Panel
24	[concept] Provider experience with select aspects of transitions. (e.g., information received)	3.82	3.45	Mid-Term	This concept of providing feedback to the sending provider is necessary to improve the quality of the information provided in a transition. Important and fairly easy to survey.
					Challenges:
					 Return on investment may be an issue. There is no evidence that shows implementing surveys on provider experience would improve care or reduce errors.
					Opportunities:
					• This would assist with improvement of information that needs to be sent and/or received. Surveying physicians as to what they need versus what they receive could improve communication tools and systems.
					• Provider experience data may be captured in a survey.

SUBDOMAIN: PATIENT/FAMILY/CAREGIVER EXPERIENCE

ID	Proposed Measures & Concepts	Importance Score	Feasibility Score	Timing	Comments from the Panel
25	[measure] 3-Item Care Transition Measure	3.86	3.43	Mid-Term	Discharge planning is an important metric in improving the overall quality of care for the patient, and reducing readmission rates. This measure has widespread adoption in the inpatient setting and is measured consistently at hospital discharge.
					Challenges:
					• This measure may be difficult to track in ED transitions of care and require customization for implementation.
					• A core component of this measure is patient activation, which may be challenging to assess in the ED.
					Opportunity:
					 EDs may adopt many validated transition measures. EDs can adopt measures that best reflect their patient population and resources.
26	[concept] Patient- reported experience with care specific to culturally competent care delivery that takes into consideration	4.27	3.82	Mid-Term	Providing culturally competent care is very important, but can be challenging in some communities. Feedback from patients to providers is necessary to improve the quality of the information provided in a transition.
	patients' preferences, needs, and values.				 Challenges: May be challenging to connect patient-reported experience with a specific transition.
	Concept is based on CAHPS 3.0 and CAHPS				Opportunity:
	American Indian Survey composite assessment: Getting Care Quickly; Getting Needed Care; Provider Communication; Clerks and Receptionists at Clinic; Health Education; Perceived Discrimination; Global				 CAHPS is a well-accepted means of assessing patient experience in a variety of clinical settings; however, patient participation rates in post-care surveys is usually very low.
	Ratings				

SUBDOMAIN: FOLLOW-UP AND SAFETY OUTCOMES

ID	Proposed Measures & Concepts	Importance Score	Feasibility Score	Timing	Comments from the Panel
27	[measure] Patients with a transient ischemic event ER visit that had a follow-up office visit (NQF #0644)	3.64	3.29	Future/ Aspirational	This is a good example of a high-risk diagnosis that requires immediate follow-up after an ED visit. This measure could be expanded to apply to all serious ED visits in terms of evaluating frequency of successful follow- up, not just a single diagnostic entity.
					Challenges:Obtaining a follow-up appointment depends in large part on the patient's insurance.
					• Potential limitations based on the extent to which primary care providers are engaged in their health information exchange.
					 In some cases, this measure may create alternative processes, which in turn can add workflow and reporting burden.
					Opportunity:
					 An enhancement to this measure could include real-time monitoring and measurement based on clinical data rather than claims.
28	[concept] Follow-up occurred after patient leaves the ED (e.g., visit or phone call)	4.36	3.64	Mid-Term	Follow-up after the patient leaves the ED is important. Lessons learned from hospital readmission programs support that follow-up can reduce readmissions and lead to improved patient satisfaction; however, there might be a lack of evidence to support this concept.
					Challenges:
					 Patients may give incorrect phone number or not have one.
					 Implementation of this type of a measure needs more infrastructure in place and a change in ED culture. May be difficult to measure.
					Opportunities:
					 Not necessary for every visit (e.g., medication refills); consider basing on the severity of the problem.
					• This measure concept could be tied to a specific patient population to follow up with. Certainly worthwhile to contact a percentage of patients.

ID	Proposed Measures & Concepts	Importance Score	Feasibility Score	Timing	Comments from the Panel
29	[concept] The percentage of high-risk ED discharges (as designated by the ED provider) where there is contact (in-person follow-up or other) within a specified period of time by the primary care physician or responsible specialist	4.09	3.27	Mid-Term	 EDs are always interested in gaining more information on what happens to patients whom they refer to other providers. When high-risk patients are discharged from the ED, it is important for the ED to know if its referral visits happened. Challenges: Impossible to accomplish in many systems today due to lack of resources. While important, depending upon the patient's insurance, this follow-up many not be possible in some communities. Opportunity: EHRs could capture this data.
30	[concept] Reduction in adverse drug events through a combination of medication review, medication reconciliation, and the patient's understanding of medications	4.18	3.18	Mid-Term	 Medication issues are a primary driver of ED transition failures. Challenges: This will be very hard to track in most systems and relies on health IT. May be challenging if the ED does not have a pharmacist available. Opportunity: There has been a fair amount of research resulting in technology solutions that effectively reconcile medication across multiple sources.
31	[concept] Unscheduled return visits to the ED within 9 days or 30 days	4.55	4.55	Today	 Important outcome measure that can be captured easily today. Opportunities: Data would be readily available, and could assist with quality improvement (i.e., determine who is returning to the ED and why). Easy to do in many systems, but must exclude scheduled returns.

APPENDIX F: Public Comments Received on Draft Report and Panel Responses

Executive Summary Section

Emergency Nurses Association Josie Howard-Ruben

Does a great job of providing all the necessary info for those who can't dive deeper into the issue.

Add figure/diagram model to delineate discussion

Transitions include the sharing of vital information both verbally and in writing. The standardization of forms, identification of key elements of information sharing, and the electronic storage of information should not only be a recommendation, but a requirement. The "barriers" mentioned can be overcome and monitored so that confidentiality is maintained during the sharing of information and coordination of the care is accomplished.

Very lengthy and needs to be condensed. No mention of patients that may be low income, mental illness, the fact that language may be a barrier, and that there has been an increase in ER Discharge Planners or Care Coordinators.

>Panel Response:

Thank you for your review of the draft report and for your comment. NQF is not in a position to make standardization requirements that support transitions of care. However, we acknowledge and strongly recommend information exchange standardization as a means to support successful transitions of care. The report considers broad and varied populations including high-risk conditions, and other factors such as socioeconomic status, but fully acknowledges that more research is needed to identify ways that

specific patients could be screened to identify unmet social service needs that may increase the risk of poor ED transitions.

Introduction Section

Emergency Nurses Association Josie Howard-Ruben

Clearly identifies the problem, but doesn't address the EMS "gateway" into the system. In some areas, patients might be seen and treated in the field without subsequent transport and this information might be lost. The emerging concept of mobile healthcare is absent

No mention of EMTALA regulations. Unrealistic to have a standardized EMR due to overall cost and conversion. HCAHPS scores can assist in viewing hospitals patient satisfaction.

>Panel Response:

Thank you for your comments. This project aims to identify ways to measure and improve patient transitions of care into and out of the ED, and ultimately make the process more patient-centered. We recognize that there are transitions that occur when emergency medical services (EMS), the police, or the fire department respond to individuals who may or may not be transported to the ED. As part of the environmental scan for this project, we did engage EMS stakeholders and agree that EMS is an important component of transition metrics. The report includes priority proposed concepts that include EMS information exchange with the ED.

In the introduction we recognize the impact EMTALA has on the ED specific to visit volume and their obligation to provide medical screening examinations for all patients regardless of their willingness to pay.

In measure concept #26 we recommend the incorporation of the CAHPS 3.0 and American Indian Survey composite assessment capture: Getting Care Quickly; Getting Needed Care; Provider Communication; Clerks and Receptionists at Clinic; Health Education; Perceived Discrimination; Global Ratings.

Project Overview Section

Department of Health and Human Services Jessica Oidtman

Page 7 states: "This project, however, focuses on the transitions of care into and out of the ED, with a particular emphasis on the role of follow-up care for the patient." It is unclear from this statement if entry into the ED through EMS is considered in scope for this project. Please clarify which entry methods are considered in scope for this project.

>Panel Response:

Thank you for your comment. Entry into the ED through EMS is considered in scope for this project. As part of the environmental scan for this project, we engaged EMS stakeholders and agree that EMS plays a critical role in transitions of care. The report includes priority proposed concepts that include EMS information exchange with the ED.

Emergency Nurses Association

Josie Howard-Ruben

Explains why EMS was omitted from project and narrows the scope exclusively to the ED. There is utility in the framework of care coordination to identify EMS and ED "super" users who use excess resources in the setting of patient transitions. EMS may interface with a recently discharged ED patient before follow-up care can be obtained, and the number of times that interface results in nontransports, so this exclusion may be short-sighted. EMS plays a key role in assessing and reassuring patients and the number of time this scenario ends in non-transport for a repeat ED visit should be quantified. No mention of EMS personnel and various educational needs of hospital personnel/EMS

>Panel Response:

Thank you for your review of the draft report. We agree with your comment. The Panel identified patients at high-risk of having a poor transition in care and patients who use the ED frequently as being two groups requiring special attention. The Panel recognized that high-risk patients and patients who use the ED frequently typically require additional time and resources, which may not always be available. Even while recognizing the challenges in ensuring an effective transition of care for these patients, the Panel agreed it was important for the ED to take initial steps in measurement that would enable the ED to become an even more effective partner within the system of care.

As part of the environmental scan for this project, we did engage EMS stakeholders and agree that EMS is an important component of transition metrics. The report includes priority proposed concepts that include EMS information exchange with the ED.

Rachel Abbey

p. 11 Table 2 under key information elements and properties of its transmission under provider information exchange. Is the term "Advanced directives" here being used to include POLST documents or not? This should be clarified because they are different.

>Panel Response:

Yes, the term "advanced directives" does include POLST documents. We have updated the report to clarify.

Synthesis of Findings and Definitions Section

Emergency Nurses Association Josie Howard-Ruben

Very broad and needs to be condensed. Seems to have cast a wide net.

>Panel Response:

Thank you for your comment. This report was intentionally written to cover a broad topic in which not much work has been done on to date. It was our hope that this report would encompass the many aspects of transitions of care into and out of the ED and serve as a starting point for the field.

Measurement Framework, Measures, Concepts and Gaps Section

Denver Health Medical Center

Stephen Cantrill

Page 10, item 3 (1) iii: replace "Rivaroxaban" with "anticoagulation medication" to make it more general.

Page 10, item 3 (2) i: (e.g., neonates, elderly)

Page 16, under "Care Coordination...": should be "setting's"

>Panel Response:

Thank you for your comment. We have updated the report based on your suggestions.

Emergency Nurses Association

Josie Howard-Ruben

Comprehensive identification of all salient issues for implementation of the quality goals; did not identify any barriers such as HIPAA, patient reluctance to share information across system, information security, etc.

Several references are made regarding transfers "into the ED" with some mentions of EMS and fire departments, but on Page 10, an episode of care as patients enter the ED and only list on "e.g." as being from an outpatient provider, so do not call out the role of EMS. Page 14 discusses provider information exchange and doesn't specifically address EMS arrivals

This information is not new to medicine and nursing and seems to be ongoing.

Repetition noted and no mention of hospitals with ER Discharge Planners. No mention of patient education and follow-up care.

>Panel Response:

Thank you for your review of the draft report and for your comment. The Panel considered barriers to information sharing and recognized HIPAA as a perceived barrier which needs to be addressed through our recommendations of creating HIT systems that facilitate secure data transfer.

This project aims to identify ways to measure and

improve patient transitions of care into and out of the ED, and ultimately make the process more patientcentered. We recognize that there are transitions that occur when emergency medical services (EMS), the police, or the fire department respond to individuals who may or may not be transported to the ED. As part of the environmental scan for this project, we engaged EMS stakeholders and agree that EMS plays a critical role in transitions of care. The report includes priority proposed concepts that include EMS information exchange with ED.

We agree with you on the importance of effective ED discharge planning and patient education. The report includes a section on Patient, Family and Caregiver Information Exchange which we believe captures the need for not only discharge planning, but post-discharge educational resources and follow-up care.

Rachel Abbey

P.17: The third bullet that discusses a "Transfer of a transition of care document", is this the patient care record from EMS? The transition of care document sounds as if it is a specific document and I am not clear that EMS uses this term. Also this is used in this context throughout the document.

>Panel Response:

Thank you for your comment and request for further clarification for this measure concept. We agree that this could be better described in the report with EMS specific nomenclature and have updated the report accordingly.

Tahroma Alligood

1. The intro paragragh might be condensed based on prior content.

2. In high-risk transitions, it might be important to include disabilities in (2) or (3) on pg. 11

3. Standardize subheadings and descriptions among Domains narratives to assist reader in navigation. Perhaps put the bottom line up front (BLUF) of what the panel identified to be the main quality measures prior to explaining the background of each domain/ subdomain, for context.

>Panel Response:

Thank you for your comment. We agree that the

inclusion of disabilities is important when discussing high-risk transitions and we will update the report accordingly.

We also agree that standard subheadings and better navigation is important and we will address these concerns in the final report.

Priority Measures and Measure Concepts Section

Department of Health and Human Services

Jessica Oidtman

Why did only 2/3 of the panel provide responses to your prioritization exercise?

>Panel Response:

Thank you for your comment. While it is always NQF's hope to receive 100 percent participation from our Panel, we recognize that our Panel is generously volunteering their time to this project and have competing priorities, which sometimes makes it difficult to participate in every aspect of the project. The prioritization exercise was sent to the full Panel and two-thirds responded which NQF considers to be a large enough subset of the Panel.

Department of Health and Human Services Jessica Oidtman

In the detailed discussion of domains, it is sometimes unclear whether findings were drawn from the environmental scan, from the expert panel, or from the measure scan (or a combination of all). Clarifying where results were drawn from may be useful.

>Panel Response:

Thank you for your comment. The domains were drawn from a combination of the environmental scan, the Expert Panel, and the measure scan. We will update the report to better clarify.

Department of Health and Human Services

Jessica Oidtman

The "engagement of the broader community" domain begins to address the social determinants that influence a patient's health. However, these social determinants of health are not always well measured or assessed during care transitions. How might the measurement of social determinants of health be important to high-quality ED transitions in care?

>Panel Response:

Thank you for your comment. We agree that highrisk includes specific conditions as well as social determinants of health. This report has included high-risk as a general term, but we agree that there is more work to be done to develop tools around assessing social determinants of health. As a start, the Panel has recommended a measure concept that assesses social determinants and what type of impact they may have on the outcome of a transition of care.

Emergency Nurses Association

Josie Howard-Ruben

Agree with the priority measures. Good content.

>Panel Response:

Thank you for your comment.

Expert Panel Recommendations Section

Department of Health and Human Services Jessica Oidtman

In the recommendations section, it might be useful to provide suggestions for what levers/incentives/ mechanisms, where appropriate, can be used to implement the recommendations.

Did the Panel only prioritize the measures, or did they also prioritize the recommendations? It might be helpful to know which recommendations should be tackled first, and which can be saved for later.

>Panel Response:

Thank you for your comment. A number of the recommendations do include potential levers and mechanisms that can be used to implement the recommendations. For example, the use of a common consent form, the creation of new reimbursement codes to provide more intensive care coordination services, etc. We also recommend quality incentive programs that promote shared accountability. The Panel did not prioritize the recommendations but did draft the recommendations with unanimous agreement.

Emergency Nurses Association Josie Howard-Ruben

Manageable priority list with clear directions and where to proceed for future implementation and the inclusion of some examples of "best" practices. Minimal inclusion of EMS within the framework.

Advanced practice nurses are poised to assume the role of care coordinator for the ED patient population. We would like to see this identified as a viable option. Broad categories of "care coordinators/ managers" are identified and nursing is not mentioned.

Health information technology (HIT) is vital to the transfer of information to all parties involved in care coordination programs. The use of biotechnology in the collection of patient vitals is not addressed here. Why is biotechnology not being recommended here as a means of transmitting current and past bio- responses to care and state of health? Biotechnological monitoring of patients in the home care setting is the future of medicine if we expect to manage care outside of hospitals.

It is clear that positive clinical outcomes should be the drivers for payer incentives. What are the incentives to reporting or will you strongly recommend that regulatory agencies be involved?

Care Coordination is not a new concept and research will assess the outcomes of these recommendations.

Many hospital systems in the same county are not able to have standardized EMRs. Financial burden on the hospital system is the main factor or hurdle in a EMR conversion or utilization.

The sharing of information would be applicable in printed out patient report in compliance with EMTALA.

New payment models may need legislative assistance to change the current 3rd party reimbursement and not an easy task to collaborate due the uninsured, Medicare and other private insurance regulations.

>Panel Response:

Thank you for your review of the draft report and for your comments.

This project aims to identify ways to measure and improve patient transitions of care into and out of the ED, and ultimately make the process more patientcentered. We agree that advanced practice nurses are poised to assume the role of care coordinator for the ED population however, the report was meant to focus on functions, not specific roles. We recognize that supporting quality transitions of care is a team sport and involves many key players.

There have been significant advancements and innovations in biotechnology monitoring; however, it is not widespread or standard of care. The aim of this report is to recommend a measurement framework with additional considerations to support the advancement of the framework.

Rachel Abbey

p. 29 2.a. This sounds more of an opinion vs. a recommendation. What is the recommendation?

>Panel Response:

Thank you for your comment. Our recommendation in 2.a. is for health information exchanges to be supported by public funding or by payers. We recognize this recommendation is aspirational; however, current HIT infrastructure must be enhanced to achieve quality transitions of care. There are many different funding models, so our recommendation was intentionally broad. We will update the recommendation with some current examples of how payers and providers can work together to fuel data exchange (i.e., the HealthShare Exchange of Southeastern Pennsylvania).

Citations

Mount Sinai Medical Center

Ula Hwang

See above comment to also cite the following chapter specifically focused on transitions of care from the ED (for older patients):

Morano B, Morano C, Biese K, Coleman EA, Hwang U. Geriatric dispositions and transitions of care. In: Mattu A, Grossman S, Rosen P, eds. Geriatric Emergencies: A Discussion-based Review. Oxford, UK: Wiley Blackwell; 2016.

>Panel Response:

Thank you for your comment. We agree that this is an important resource and will ensure that it is included in the final report.

Methodology (Appendix A)

Department of Health and Human Services

Jessica Oidtman

It might be helpful to include a graphic that depicts how you collected your data (environmental scan, measures scan, interviews, expert panel), how this data feeds into your framework, and finally, how the domains and subdomains are related to each other.

>Panel Response:

Thank you for your comment. We agree with your suggestion and have included a graphic to depict how our data was collected and used.

Measure Compendium (Appendix C)

Denver Health Medical Center

Stephen Cantrill

Measure 3: Add "in a timely fashion"

Measure 4: Change ".. care document OR verbal report.." to "...care document AND verbal report". (the timely written report is the most important"

Measures 6 and 17: Reconcile the wording so they are the same

Measure 31: Please change to "Unscheduled return visits..."

>Panel Response:

Thank you for your comment. We have updated the report based on your suggestions.

Department of Health and Human Services

Jessica Oidtman

Did NQF consider any patient reported outcomes measures as part of the environmental scan?

How might patient reported outcomes be included in quality measurement approaches for ED transitions?

>Panel Response:

Thank you for your comment. Yes, NQF included the search for patient-reported outcome measures in the environmental scan. There are several hospitalbased measures in the HCAPS survey that could help to identify a patients experience with a transition of care. These measures have been included in the recommended measures. The Panel also identified concepts based on patient-reports that could support identification of a PCP, or shared decision making for discharge planning. Patient-reported shared decision making will be included in the final report.

Emergency Nurses Association

Josie Howard-Ruben

Lengthy.

>Panel Response:

Thank you for comment. NQF and the Panel agreed that including the domain/subdomain, whether it is an existing measure or measure concept, the title, and a brief description were important to display and would be helpful for those looking for measures/ concepts to implement.

Tahroma Alligood

#1, 2 and throughout: use consistent terminology for PCP (primary care provider vs. physician to account for PAs, NPs).

1, 2 and throughout: Should PCPs AND relevant specialists be included in information exchanges, medication reconciliation, care plans, etc. rather than OR?

It might be helpful to insert a separate column or footnote containing the source of existing measures and concepts, when available.

>Panel Response:

Thank you for your comment and recommendations. We have updated Appendix C to ensure we are using consistent terminology for PCP.

Regarding your second comment on should PCPs OR relevant specialists be included in information exchanges, we agree that it could be AND/OR. In some cases, for example cancer patients, the PCP and specialist would be the same. We also want to clarify that these are recommended concepts and have not yet been developed. Thus, the language has been left intentionally broad to not restrict innovation.

For existing measures, we have updated Appendix C to include a link to additional information on that measure.

Measure Prioritization (Appendix D)

Emergency Nurses Association

Josie Howard-Ruben

May need to condense.

>Panel Response:

Thank you for your comment. Appendix D highlights the measures and measure concepts that were identified by the Panel and shows rankings for each measure/concept based on importance and feasibility. NQF and the Panel believes that prioritizing each measure/concept will assist the field in future development and believe that including the importance and feasibility score is important to include.

Rachel Abbey

p. 51 under Provider Information Exchange #4. It might be useful to clarify that the transition of care document is the patient care report (PCR) somewhere in this document. You might also want to clarify the method of how the ED is receiving and EMS is sending the PCR data from EMS--electronic, paper or verbal? If electronic, what standards (NEMSIS 3.4 CDA) are being used? What about measuring if the ED incorporates the ePCR data into the ED's EHR system (manual entry or HL7 format)?

>Panel Response:

Thank you for your comment. We agree that standards are fundamental to interoperability and data sharing and recommend the use of data elements that conform to EHR standards in the development of eMeasures. We have included standard format examples such as PCR and NEMSIS to the final report.

Rachel Abbey

p. 52. Provider Information Exchange #7: You may want to clarify what type of system (electronic or manual) and if electronic that the information provided back to providers uses data standards (e.g., for EMS NEMSIS 3.4 CDA standards).

>Panel Response:

Thank you for your comment and request for further clarification for this measure concept. We agree that standards are fundamental to interoperability and data sharing and recommend the use of data elements that conform to EHR standards in the development of eMeasures. We have included this recommendation in the final report.

General Comments

Consortium for Citizens with Disabilities

E. Clarke Ross

Patient, Family, & Caregiver Information Exchange. The American Association on Health and Disability and Lakeshore Foundation fully support and reinforce the significance of measures addressing patient, family, and care giver information. Pages 17-20, 23, and 28. One of the 4 important subdomains is patient-family-care giver experience. One of the prioritization findings is patient-centered communication. Clarke Ross, AAHD & Lakeshore.

>Panel Response:

Thank you for your comment.

Consortium for Citizens with Disabilities

E. Clarke Ross

Importance of Utilizing & Knowing About Available Community Resources. The American Association on Health and Disability and Lakeshore Foundation are delighted to see & fully support these recommendations. The NQF workgroup on persons dually eligible, the NQF committee on HCBS, the NQF committee on health disparities, and other NQF entities have recognized the importance of community resources-non-health, social services, and natural supports to promoting health. Pages 20-22, 25, 28-29. One of the 3 common themes, one of the priorization findings, and one of the priority performance measures. Clarke Ross, AAHD & Lakeshore

>Panel Response:

Thank you for your comment.

Department of Health and Human Services Jessica Oidtman on behalf of Brendan Carr

Thanks for this wonderful framework which will allow the acute care community to develop quality measures that fully capture the experience of the patient as they transition from their usual state of health, into the acute care system, and then back into their usual source of outpatient care.

The bi-directional flow of information described in this document captures an essential approach to efficiently using resources while ensuring high quality and patient centered care.

There is no mention of the role of payers in owning the key domains described. I'm concerned that payers are not involved in discussion about how to ensure that the broader community is engaged. Specifically, I would like the framework to include some discussion of how payers are encouraged to engage the broader community. A concrete example here includes the use of emergency departments as a safety net and the reality that some patients can't be discharged into a low cost setting as a result of their sociodemographic challenges. It is easy for payers to deny the admission on clinical grounds and they have no incentive to engage the community supports necessary to find a lower cost option.

The recommendations should more concretely articulate how to use novel payment structures to create shared incentives and penalties across different settings of care.

>Panel Response:

Thank you for your comment. We agree that payers can play a key role in successful transitions. In our recommendations, we identified that stakeholders, to include payers, should work together to identify, develop, evaluate, and promulgate promising models for ED and community engagement. In addition, the report mentions the importance and use of care managers, social workers, coordinators, or navigators within the ED to better facilitate communication with payers.

Department of Health and Human Services Jessica Oidtman

How might we leverage the Medicare Access and CHIP Reauthorization Act (MACRA) to improve ED transitions in care? For example, how can we leverage quality measures or the clinical practice improvement activities outlined under the merit-based incentive payment system (MIPS) to improve ED transitions in care?

The 21st Century Cures Act drives toward better interoperability by, for example, setting up a provider directory to facilitate data exchange. It also helps to minimize information blocking among providers and facilities. How might we leverage the 21st Century Cures Act's provisions to enhance HIT to support high quality ED transitions in care?

It might be helpful to provide a definition for "acute, unscheduled care" at the beginning of the report since it is used throughout.

>Panel Response:

Thank you for your comment. The Panel recommends quality incentive models that promote shared accountability, which in turn supports quality transitions of care. Models that incentivize individual providers (versus shared accountability) do not improve quality transitions of care. We agree that the development of quality measures for the MIPS incentive program is a promising approach to improving ED transitions. We also agree that interoperability is the lynchpin to ED high quality transitions of care and that programs such as the 21st Century Cures Care Act will only have positive results.

A definition for "acute, unscheduled care" will be included in the final report.

Emergency Nurses Association Josie Howard-Ruben

This topic is critical to population health. At a high level, this document addresses existing structures to tackle the problem of transitions of care, but does not seem innovative, so the result would be getting the same outcomes we do now. The paper does not to address the most current cutting edge care models that are being deployed to better serve patients in need of urgent/acute care and the concomitant follow-up. Communication, readmissions, and medication reconciliation are necessary, but what is the new charge for researchers, providers and even the business managers to make change? A conceptual model is needed to guide the future research and measurement.

EMS and nursing/ancillary services, nursing leadership and business managers seem to be missing from this document. A charge to change should include all system stakeholders that make the ED run. The challenges affecting smaller EDs with resource poverty (social workers, etc.) should also be addressed.

Recommend sections 1) on emerging technologies (i.e. telemedicine both for follow up as well as to generally avoid ED visits); 2) policy and funding changes needing to be made by government and payers to more comprehensively address the root causes for ED utilization; 3) redeploying/reconfiguring the entire delivery system to meet the patient where they're at (home, homeless, SNF, etc.); and 4) education of the community on correct ED utilization.

It would be helpful to add a focus on ways that EMS can be involved in care transitions. If EMS is to be represented in the changes made in the ED, it is necessary that this document discuss the ways to utilize EMS as part of the solution to care transitions. EMS is moving toward becoming an integrated portion of our healthcare delivery model and is an important player in the care transition into the ED. Mobile integrated healthcare-community paramedicine is also missing from this document, and this document can be an opportunity to help EDs understand the benefit of MIH-CP in improving transitions of care. Post-discharge follow-up with MIH-CP for high risk patients is already a documented practice that has reduced certain readmissions and an extension of this practice to involve MIH-CP in care transition out of the ED and back into the community. EMS can play a vital role in avoiding ED utilization, if the proper protocols are put in place at dispatch and for the field crews.

>Panel Response:

Thank you for reviewing the draft report and for your comments. We agree that a conceptual model is needed to guide future research in measuring and promoting quality transitions of care. We believe our report is a starting point providing a measurement framework and research agenda. It is our hope that the measurement framework set forth in the report may be used as a foundation in identifying innovative, feasible, and reliable ways to incentivize meaningful, person-centered transitions of care.

This project aims to identify ways to measure and improve patient transitions of care into and out of the ED, and ultimately make the process more patientcentered. We recognize that there are transitions that occur when emergency medical services (EMS), the police, or the fire department respond to individuals who may or may not be transported to the ED. The aim of the report is to address the challenges affecting all types of EDs including ones with varied resources. The final draft will address this.

We agree that the identification and dissemination of integrated healthcare community models in which ED transitions are supported by multiple stakeholders is essential and have included examples in the report.

Federation of American Hospitals Jayne Chambers

The Federation of American Hospitals ("FAH") appreciates the opportunity to comment on this draft report. FAH supports the report's focus of driving improvements in emergency department (ED) transitions to positively impact the patients we serve. The comments that FAH provides are intended to further strengthen the proposed domains, subdomains and measure concepts.

The domains and subdomains identified in this framework are well outlined and FAH supports the inclusion of a domain specifically focusing on the role of the community at large. Recognizing and highlighting a community's contribution to improving the quality of life for patients and minimizing those factors that influence a patient's need to revisit the ED is critical. These factors such as lack of a primary care physician, access to food or pharmacies, and transportation should also be assessed at the individual patient level and not just at the broader community level. FAH recommends that the panel incorporate the data capture of social risk factors into the "provider information exchange" and the "patient, family, and caregiver information exchange" domains.

Expansion of the subdomains to address the needs of the family and caregivers in the "patient, family, and caregiver information exchange" domain would also be helpful. Currently, the subdomains appear to be primarily patient-focused; yet, the family and/or caregiver play a critical role in providing information and participating in the care process.

>Panel Response:

Thank you for your review of the draft report and for your comments. We identified in our recommendations a research agenda that includes further research to understand which patients are at highest risk for encountering problems with poor quality or poor outcomes related to ED transitions. This recommendation includes the development of a tool to measure modifiable social determinants of health for incorporation into a community integrated electronic health record based on the National Academies recommendations on Capturing Social and Behavioral domains and measures in Electronic Health Records.

The Panel identified a number of leading programs specific to community supports and social determinants, such as San Diego 211, that are included in the engagement of the broader community section of the report.

NQF's current guidance states that "patient" is a term of art that includes caregivers, family members, parents, and others involved in the team of care. We see all of these roles as critical in providing information and participating in the care process.

Federation of American Hospitals Jayne Chambers

The report mentions, but does not address, many of the challenges that are encountered when developing and implementing measures around ED transitions. Several of the measure concepts included in Appendix C are aspirational as noted. Additional information on how to tackle measure development and implementation barriers associated with these concepts and in general would be beneficial.

FAH requests that the report also address where the evidence is the strongest to support the measure concepts. Given the goal of using this report to assist developers in identifying potential measures for development, the FAH recommends that only those concepts for which there is demonstrated evidence that the structure or process will improve patient outcomes should be included. Particularly, given the potential requirements and costs for infrastructure, staffing and other resources required to implement some of the structural measure concepts, it may be more beneficial to focus on processes and outcomes. The structural components for which there is evidence to demonstrate that others have been able to improve outcomes may be better suited to best practices or examples on how improvements in processes and outcomes were driven through its use. The FAH also notes that the measure concepts outlined on page 48 in Appendix C under the "effective communication and shared decision making" subdomain would be further strengthened if the information was derived from the patient's voice rather than requiring documentation from the provider's perspective.

FAH thanks the panel for their thoughtful report on such a critical topic and looks forward to viewing the final report

>Panel Response:

Thank you for your comment. We agree that additional information on how to tackle measure development and implementation barriers associated with the proposed measure concepts in Appendix C is important.

We recognize that there are infrastructure challenges, however while this is a critical quality issue, we anticipate they will be resolved in the future. The report proposes one structural measure for future development and implementation. This concept is based on HIT infrastructure to provide patients access to health information via an online portal. The concept corresponds to the Panel's recommendations for HIT enhancements to support quality transitions for which there is an evidence base. We agree that the shared decision making concept is further strengthened by including patientreport and have updated to the concept to reflect this.

Mount Sinai Medical Center Ula Hwang

Well written report with important review, synthesis of domains, and recommendations/opportunities and directions for improving ED transitions of care. An additional citation and resource that should be considered in the Environmental Scan to inform ED Quality of Transitions of care measurement framework is the chapter "Geriatric dispositions and transitions in care" in the 2016 Rosen Geriatric Emergencies: A discussion-based review. The chapter provides a consensus-based check list of activities in quality care transitions for patients discharged from the ED that are as follows:

Assessment of care needs

Understanding the patient's/family's care preferences

Linkage to appropriate care setting

Identification of single care coordinator

Delivering effective patient/family/caregiver education

Facilitating a timely disposition from the ED setting

These elements are aligned with and support the 4 proposed domains in the draft report (provider information exchange; patient, family, caregiver information exchange, engagement of community, and achievement of outcomes).

>Panel Response:

Thank you for your comment. We agree that this is an important resource and will ensure that it is included in the final report.

National Association of ACOs

Jennifer Gasperini

NAACOS appreciates the opportunity to provide feedback on the National Quality Forum (NQF) Emergency Department Quality of Transitions of Care Measurement Framework, Draft Report. As the largest association of ACOs, representing more than 3.5 million beneficiary lives through over 240 Medicare Shared Savings Program (MSSP) ACOs, Next Generation, and commercial ACOs we care deeply about this issue. NAACOS is an ACO memberled and member-owned non-profit organization that works on behalf of ACOs across the nation to improve the quality of Medicare delivery, population health and outcomes, and health care cost efficiency.

ACOs are committed to enhancing care coordination, particularly around transitions into and out of the Emergency Department (ED) and therefore we appreciate the Expert Panel's work in developing a priority set of measures and concepts to improve quality measurement and work in this area. NAACOS agrees with the panel's assessment of infrastructure improvements needed to better support ED transitions that are patient-centered. We also support the panel's recognition of the need to better engage the broader community in transitions of care efforts including non-clinical, social supports. ACOs are increasingly engaging their communities to support the social needs of their patients and connect them, when possible, with community services. We support the panel's focus and attention to furthering the availability of community supports information to better coordinate care provided following ED care.

We agree with the limitations detailed by the panel for the current measure set around ED transitions of care. NAACOS supports the panel's focus on enhancements to Health Information Technology (HIT) to support ED transitions of care, including making HIT that easily identifies key information for a receiving provider related to the transition and to allow sharing of information among hospitals, clinicians and other non-clinical providers when appropriate. We appreciate the panel's commitment to minimizing provider burden in reviewing such information. We agree that further research is needed to understand which interventions work best to reduce transition related problems in order to develop further measures in this area. ACOs should be included in this assessment going forward to learn from the best practices they have identified around this issue to date. Lastly, we agree that any measurement in this area should be tailored for use in multiple settings to better facilitate care coordination.

In closing, we thank the NQF for their focus and work in this area. We support the ongoing evaluation of how to best measure work related to ED transitions of care. ACOs remain highly invested in this area of research and welcome the ability to share input in the panel's future work in this area.

>Panel Response:

Thank you for your comment. We agree that ACO's play a key role in this area and will ensure that they are included moving forward to learn from the best practices they have identified to date.

ISBN 978-1-68248-063-2 © 2017 National Quality Forum

NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM 1030 15TH STREET, NW, SUITE 800 WASHINGTON, DC 20005

www.qualityforum.org